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This report is produced using paper made from 100%
recycled content. Such a high percentage is unusual
for company reports. The board used for the dividers
and the coveris 50% recycled stock and 50% fibre
which has not been bleached using chlorine, and

has been awarded the Nordic Swan eco-label.
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The word ‘content’ doesn’t do justice to the
great music and songs that EMI’s artists create.

But it does explainthe business we are pursuing -
finding, developing and supplying pure musical
content of high, long-term quality.

The music industry is in a period of transition
led by rapid technological change. It is difficult
to predict precisely what the most successful
models for selling music will be in the future.
But one thing is certain: quality content is
the key to unlocking value as those new
models emerge.

EMIis working with all kinds of retail, distribution,
hardware and software companies to help
consumers and users buy our music inthe ways
they want to.

And we are working hard to protect our music
from theft. Music has a value to the people
who created it and own it. Stealing intellectual
property is the same as stealing any other
kind of property.

Content, and value for stakeholders, are EMI’s
focus in a world where more music is being
consumed than ever before. We believe that
IS a unique opportunity.



There are more and
more formats for playing
music
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Music generates revenues
in many different ways




‘We delivered the promised
substantial improvement

In profitability driven by

the turnaround of EMI
Recorded Music, another
solid performance from EMI
Music Publishing and tighter
financial management across
the group.’

Financial Summary

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2003 31 March 2002
£m —om
Group turnover 2,1754 2,445.8
EBITDA (i) 297.0 241.9
Group operating profit (EBITA) (i) 254.0 190.9
Adjusted PBT (iii) 177.3 153.3
Profit (loss) before taxation 319.3 (152.8)
Adjusted diluted earnings per share (iv) 15.6p 11.8p
Basic earnings per share 29.3p (25.5)p
Dividends per share 8.0p 8.0p
Return on sales (v) 11.7% 7.8%
Interest cover (vi) 3.9x 4.0x

(i) EBITDAIs Group operating profit before operating exceptional items, depreciation and amortisation of goodwill and music copyrights.

(i) Groupoperating profit (EBITA) is before operating exceptional items and amortisation of goodwil and music copyrights.

(i) Adjusted PBT is before both operating and non-operating exceptional items and amortisation of goodwill and music copyrights.

(iv) Adjusted diluted earnings per share is before both operating and non-operating exceptional items and amortisation of goodwill and music copyrights.

(v} Retumn on sales is defined as Group operating profit before operating exceptional items and amcrtisation of goodwilland music copyrights as a percentage of Group turnover.
(vi) Interest coveris defined asthe number of times EBITDA is greater than Group finance charges.



Chairman’s Statement

Eric Nicoli
Chairman, EMI Group

The year ended 31 March 2003 was one of remarkable
progress and achieverment for EMI Group, all the more
soinacontext of the global recorded music market
declining by aimost 9%. This market movement was
markedly worse than we, and others in the industry,
anticipated at the start of the year and demanded

a swift and robust response from all parts of EMI’s
business.

We delivered the promised substantial improvement

in profitability driven by the turnaround of EMI Recorded
Music, another solid performance from EMI Music
Publishing and tighter financial management across

the group. Furthermore, we have invested time and
resources in strengthening our culture and management
capabilities to equip our businesses to compete more
effectively in tough market conditions and a rapidly
changing environment. These are the results of a
company now being managed in a very different way
fromthe past.

EMI Group

For the group as a whole, operating profit (EBITA)
inthe year improved by 33.1% to £254.0m on sales
11.1% lower at £2,175.4m. Exchange rate movements
had a significant adverse impact; at constant currency,
operating profit was up 34.8% while sales declined

by 8.4%, broadly in line with the market.

Profit before tax, amortisation and exceptional items
improved by 15.7% to £177.3m. When adjusted for
currency and the year on year impact of the sale of
our stake in HMV Group, the underlying improvement
was 40.3%.

Under Roger Faxon’s stewardship, EMI Group’s
balance sheet was completely restructured with the
effect of more than doubling the average maturity of
our debt. We converted our passive interest in HMV,
Viva Media and other non-core assets into active
investment in our core business and, during the course
ofthe year, we reduced our net debt position by close
to £200m leaving year-end net debt at £859.8m,

its lowest level for four years.

Our tax rate for the year was somewhat lower than
in previous years at 25%, mainly as a result of the
improved North American profitability and amore
favourable business mix overall.

Net profit after tax and minority interests improved by
£429.2mto £229.7m compared with the previous year's
loss of £199.5m. The resulting improvement in adjusted
diluted earnings per share was 32.2%, to 15.6p per share.

The Board is recommending a final dividend of 6.0p per
share, giving a full-year dividend of 8.0p per share, thus
maintaining the previous year’s level and improving
dividend cover to close totwo times.

Recorded Music

In EMI Recorded Music, Alain Levy and David Munns
have driven the implementation of their far-reaching
restructuring and reorientation plan with the objective
of changing completely the way we work.

The strength and professionalism of the management
team at all levels is, | believe, world class. The focusis
now on sustainable, profitable sales, and on finding,
developing and effectively marketing artists who

will have long-term, successful careers.

Sales in Recorded Musicfell 12.6%to £1,774.2mas
the result of 2 combination of factors including macro-
economic effects in some regions, a growing impact

of music piracy in all its forms and the disruptive impact
of our restructuring activities, some of which took longer
than originally planned.

Our focus on generating profitable sales — rather than
market share at any cost —together with full delivery of
the projected cost savings and efficiency improvements
from restructuring, resulted in an increase in operating
profit (EBITA) of 81% to £150.5m. Qur performance

in North America was particularly pleasing as we saw
margin improve by over 12 percentage points. The UK
business had another year of excellent progress and

in South East Asia we moved into profit for the first
timeinanumber of years.

Music Publishing

EMI Music Publishing, under Martin Bandier's
leadership, is, and has been for many years,
demonstrably the best in the industry. While notimmune
to the effects of a declining recorded music market from
which over 50% of its revenues derive, this business
has, once again, shown great resilience and has
managed to maintain overall sales and profitability

by developing and exploiting other revenue streams.



‘We have demonstrated that

we have the resilience and flexibility
to operate effectively and profitably
in arange of market outcomes.’

Due entirely to currency movements, sales in the year
fell marginally from £416.4m to £401.2m and operating
profit (EBITA) was 4% lower at £103.5m. At constant
currency, sales were flat and operating profit was
down by just 0.5%.

Change

The extensive and challenging change programme

of the past year was designed to put the groupon a
much sounder financial footing and to allow us to be
more flexible and responsive in the tough competitive
conditions that we expect to prevail in the future. That
objective has been achieved.

The scale of the changes implemented over the course
of the year was massive and their impact was often
uncomfortable. The improvement in the business could
not have been achieved without the extraordinarily hard
work and dedication of my colleagues across the world.
lam proud of them and the way they have embraced
the need for a different way of operating.

We have also seen change in our Board membership.
In May, Michael Jackson stepped down after only two
and a half years as the consequence of a change of
ownership of his employer resulting in a conflict of
interest. In July, Hugh Jenkins retired after seven years
of distinguished service and | thank both Michael and
Hugh for their support and wise counsel. In September,
Peter Georgescu joined, bringing a wealth of valuable
media, advertising, consumer marketing and general
management experience to bear on our strategic
deliberations. Since the year end, we have been joined
by David Londoner, a renowned former securities
analyst with extensive knowledge of the global media
and entertainment industry and the North American
investment community.

The Future

Content is at the core of EMI - developing and
supplying pure music content of the highest quality.

We are committed to providing consumers with the
music they want, in the format they want, at a value they
find compelling and we are working with a vast range
retailers, distributors, hardware and software
manufacturers to make that vision a reality. At the same
time, EMIis at the vanguard of industry efforts to protect
our content from theft. Musicis valuable to the people
who use it and to those who create it and own it. Stealing
musicis the same as stealing any other kind of property
and we will do everything within our power to preventit.

In aworld in which more music is being consumed
than ever before, at EMI, with our extremely deep and
rich music content bank, we have a unique opportunity
to develop new revenue streams.

The weakness in the recorded music market is not yet
over but we will be unrelenting in our efforts to attack
the root causes of decline and to find ways to grow
our business.

Inthe year ahead, while the market remains volatile

and difficult to predict, we expect it to decline further
but, probably, at a slower rate than last year. We have
demonstrated that we have the resilience and flexibility
to operate effectively and profitably in a range of market
outcomes and we aim to make further progress
inevery part of our group.

Eric Nicoli
Chairman
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Recorded Music
Operating Review

Alain Levy
Chairman and CEO
EMI Recorded Music

The global music market is undergoing a shiftin its
traditional shape and structure that has far-reaching
implications for the way the industry has been
accustomed to do business.

EMI Recorded Music entered the financial year with
acommitment to changing fundamentally the way

it operates. This initially involved reducing overheads,
including 1,900 jobs, to generate nearly £100min
annualised fixed cost savings. This was a necessary
process in order to create a structure that is both scaled
to the new size of the market and flexible enough to
take advantage of new opportunities that arise or

are developed.

This restructuring has contributed to an operating profit
(EBITA) uplift of over 80%, while at the same time having
some short-term negative impact on revenues. Inayear
where the market fell 8.7%, EMI Recorded Music’s
turnover decreased 12.6% (10.2% in constant currency
terms)to £1,774.2m. This decrease is partly the result
of general market forces, most notably a significant
increase in both digital and physical piracy. It was also
driven by the disruption to day-to-day operations
caused by the extensive restructuring process,
particularly in Continental Europe and at Virgin America,
as well as by the lower than expected performance

of some local repertoire releases in Japan.

While we recognise that, in the long term, sales growth
is animportant objective, the year ended 31 March
2003 was clearly one during which we repositioned
EMI Recorded Music on profitable foundations, and

its performance did improve markedly. Operating profit
increased 81% to £150.5m (£150.1m at constant
currency), more than doubling operating margins

t0 8.5% compared with 4.1% last year.

This margin increase is not simply the result of cutting
the cost base. In the year just ended, we pursued

an aggressive policy of refocusing Recorded Music
on its core business by streamlining the artist roster
and exiting unprofitable operations and costly

joint ventures.

The improvement also demonstrates the importance
of concentrating on profitable, sustainable sales from
artists with long-term potential. EMIhad considerable
global success with such artists, including the
phenomenal debut album from Norah Jones, Come
Away With Me, which has now sold 13m copies;

the excellent second album A Rush Of Blood To The
Head from UK band Coldplay and Robbie Williams’
Escapology, both now nearing 6m copies; and the
definitive greatest hits from the Rolling Stones, now
over 5m copies of a double album. We also had excellent
regional successes from artists such as Utada Hikaru,
Renaud and Herbert Grénemeyer, whose album
Mensch sold over 3m copies to become the highest
selling German language album ever.



‘In the year under
review, EMI Recorded
Music began building
the foundations for the
music company it aims
tobecome.Thereis
more interestin,and
consumption of, music
than ever before, and
thereis atremendous
opportunity ahead
to legitimise and
capitalise on this
demand.’



45th Grammy Award Winners

Record of the year
Norah Jones

Don't Know Why
Album of the year
Norah Jones

Come Away With Me
Song of the year
NorahJones

Don't Know Why

Best new artist

Norah Jones

Best female pop vocal
Norah Jones

Come Away With Me
Best pop vocal album
Norah Jones

Come Away With Me

Recorded Music Turnover
(Em)

2,282.0

20328

2000

2,029.4

2002

2001

Best rock performance by
a duo or group with vocal
Coldplay

In My Place

Best alternative music album
Coldplay

A Rush Of Blood To The Head
Best engineered album,
non-classical

Come Away With Me
Producer of the year,
non-classical

Arif Mardin

Come Away With Me

Best dance recording

Dirty Vegas

Days Go By

Best traditional tropical
Latin album

Bebo Valdes with Israel ‘Cachao’
Lopez & Carlos ‘Patato’ Valdes
El Arte del Sabor

Best soul gospel album
The Blind Boys of Alabama
Higher Ground

Best new age album

Eric Tingstad & Nancy Rumbel
Acoustic Garden

Recorded Music Operating Profit

(£m)

227.5

2001

1,774.2

2003

195.1

2000

2002
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North America

Looking at our performance on a regional basis,

the turnaround in our North American business was
encouraging. After five consecutive years of losses,
the new management team has delivered a return

to profitability and a margin increase of more than 12
percentage points. While market share fell significantly
inthe first half, there was a gradual increase over the
second half, with Norah Jores’ eight Grammy awards
in February a particular highlight.

The changes made at Capitol have delivered initial
successes from artists including debut albums from
The Vines and, more recently, Lisa Marie Presley.

Virgin is now beginning to rebuild its roster and EMI

is increasingly confident of generating US-signed artists
for worldwide exploitation, while recognising that
progress will be gradual in this very competitive market.

UK

The UK had yet another impressive year and continues
to be amajor source of repertoire both for local and
international exploitation, as well as a standard of
excellence in extracting value from catalogue.

Continental Europe

Continental Europe underwent the most comprehansive
restructuring of all territories that took longer than
anticipated to complete. Nonetheless, it remains a highly
profitable business, and had significant success with
anumber of local repertoire releases, including albums
from Renaud in France and Herbert Grénemeyer

in Germany. With the restructuring now complete,

we expect to make progress at all levels.

Japan

Japan had some important successes, notably with
Utada Hikaru's third album Deep River, but nonetheless
turned in a somewhat disappointing result as certain
significant local repertoire releases, particularly inthe
fourth quarter, did not perform as well as expected.
Despite tough market conditions, we remain confident
inthe quality of our team in Japan and their ability to
deliver future successes.

Asia

Asia, outside of Japan, was another great success,
turning in its first profit in a number of years. EMI is
pursuing a very aggressive strategy to improve both
market share and profit in this region. This includes

a significant push into China, illustrated by substantial
investment in local repertoire, which offers considerable
potential despite severe piracy.

Latin America

Results in Latin America were mixed. There were
significant setbacks in Mexico resulting from piracy
and poor local management performance. This
management is in the process of being replaced.

EM also closed its Venezuelan operations because

of the severe economic problems in that country.

At the same time, however, the region’s most important
market, Brazil, returned to profitability and there was
considerable progress in the growing US Latin market.



‘In recent months we have started to see
a shift in the attitudes of governments as
to the seriousness of the piracy situation
and are starting to witness their willingness

to confront the problem.’

Piracy

Beyond improving immediate profitability, containing
piracy has become another major priority for EMI.
During the year, EMI Recorded Music created a global
anti-piracy team. Overall we have allocated substantial
management time tolobbying governments to enact
and enforce stronger legal penalties, and toidentifying
technologies and establishing procedures that protect
our music. The group is determined to contain the sales
erosion caused by physical counterfeiting, illegal file
sharing and CD burning.

In recent months we have started to see a shift in the
attitudes of governments as to the seriousness of the
situation and are starting to witness their willingness
to confront the problem.

Piracy containment is one important part of the new
environment. Itis, however, clear that consumers want
to access music legally via the net and we are making
considerable efforts and progress in turning thisinto
reality. EMI’'s catalogue is very widely available in digital
delivery services and the group has taken aleadership
position in offering more of our content on the net.

EMl is also actively pursuing opportunities offered by
the digital world such as ring tunes and video distribution
as well as gaining further insight into music
consumers’ behaviour.

14

Outlook

Inthe year under review, EMIRecorded Music began
building the foundations for the music company it aims
to become, operating under principles that focus on
profitable sales growth and long-term artist
development. There is more interest in, and consumption
of, music than ever before, and there is a tremendous
opportunity ahead to legitimise and capitalise on

this demand.

Looking ahead to the current financial year, the
markets are likely to remain challenging. However, we
are confident of being able to face the issues, both in
terms of supplying high-quality music, for which there
is growing demand, and in maximising the revenue EMI
Recorded Music generates from this music. On this
basis, we expect to improve market share.
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EMI Music Publishing
Top 20 Writers 2002-03
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Anders Bagge Sting
Alan Jackson Clif Magness White Stripes
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Ms Dynamite Guy Chambers
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Music Publishing
Operating Review

Martin Bandier
Chairman and CEO
EMI Music Publishing

EMI Music Publishing delivered another solid
perfermance, despite the challenges presented by

the downturn in the global recorded music market.
Forthe year as a whole, operating profit (EBITA) fell
from £107.8m in the previous yearto £103.5minthe
year ended 31 March 2003. This decrease resulted from
currency movements, in particular weakness in the US
dollar, and from a slight increase in corporate charges.
On aconstant currency basis and before central cost
allocation, Music Publishing operating profit (EBITA)
increased marginally, from £110.6min 2002 to
£111.0m in the year ended 31 March 2003.

The turnover generating this margin also remained
broadly flat on a constant currency basis, at £416.6m
compared with £416.4m in the previous year. Taking into
account currency effects, turnover fell 3.7% to £401.2m.

This resilient performance reflects the strength of EMI
Music Publishing’s ability to develop new revenue
sources and additional uses of music that reduce its
reliance on the recorded music industry. Mechanical
royalties, primarily derived from the sale of music in

GD format, now comprise only 53% of our total turnover,
down from 55% in the previous year, and 60% in 1998.

Mechanical Royalties

The 8.7% decline in the recorded music industry
inthe yearended 31 March 2003 did have an impact
onmechanical royalties. Nevertheless, with a fall

of only 3.5% at constant currency in mechanicals,
we outperformed the global market, demonstrating
the continued success of our strategy of signing
leading writers across all genres, together with our
ability to generate repeated uses through re-recordings
of songs in our existing catalogues, in particular the
great songs from the Motown eraincluded in the
Jobete catalogue.

Performance Income

Performance income, derived from the public
performance of songs in EMI’s catalogue, comprises
25% of EMI Music Publishing’s turnover and grew 3.3%
at constant currency, representing the fifth consecutive
year that this revenue stream has increased. Driving

this growth is our strong chart share, together with the
increase in media outlets, the resolution of outstanding
cable rate disputes in the US, whichincreased revenues
by bringing cable royalty rates in line with other media,
and increased efficiencies at the local societies in the
collection of publishing revenues.



Music Publishing
Revenue Sources
(Em)
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Mechanical Performance Synchronisation Other

Synchronisation Royalties

Synchronisation royalties generate 14% of Music
Publishing turnover, and also grew strongly, up 7.9%

at constant currency. This substantial increase at a time
when the global advertising market has been under
pressure is a considerable success. It demonstrates the
value in EMI's successful exploitation of its catalogue not
only incommercials but also in films, TV pragramming
and, increasingly, the video game market which uses
music to enhance game play.

Key elements in driving its synchronisation revenues
are Music Publishing's business-to-business website
and Music Spa. The site has over 6,000 regular users
worldwide who can search our catalogues to suita
variety of music needs. Since its relaunch in February,
daily traffic has increased by over 70%. The Spa,
housed in the company’s New York office, is a creative
atmosphere with the technical capabilities that allow
advertisers and their agencies to work with EMI’s Music
Resources Group to sample and identify the music
that best fits the product and message ofa
commercial campaign.
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Songs from Music Publishing’s catalogues are also
featured in a variety of musicals, which EMI actively
seeksto promote. Current shows include: We Will Rock
You, based on the Queen catalogue; Mamma Mia, using
the songs of Abba; and Our House, featuring the songs
of Madness. In autumn 2003, a new musical featuring
the music of EMI-signed writer Rod Stewart is expected
to openin London’s West End, and plans are underway
fora Motown-based musical to be written and produced
by Matown founder Berry Gordy.



Music Publishing Catalogue

Always On My Mind/Baby
Love/Blue Moon/
Bohemian Rhapsody/
Can’t Get You Out Of My
Head/Every Breath You
Take/Fame/Have
Yourself A Merry Little
Christmas/Hero/
Imagine/It’s Raining Men/
James Bond Theme/
Just Like A Pill/Lady
Marmalade/Perfect Day/
Pink Panther Theme/
Rocky Theme/Stand By
Your Man/Stop! In The
Name Of Love/This Old
Heart Of Mine/Where Did
Our Love Go/



European Ring Tone Sales
(Euros bn)
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North America

In North America, turnover fell 1.5% as gains in
synchronisation income were offset by fallsin
mechanicals, but again by less than the overall market
decline. EMI Music Publishing was once again named
Publisher of the Year by performance societies ASCAP
and BMI and by Billboard magazine. EMI Music
Publishing writers, artists and producers cumulatively
earned 24 Grammys, one-third of which went to Norah
Jones and her debut album Come Away With Me,
which to date has sold 13m copies.

UK

In the UK, turnover grew 3.8%, reflecting an increase

in both mechanical and performance income driven by
our continued leadership position in the UK charts.

EMI Music Publishing and its writers won numerous
awards at every major UK award ceremony, including

six Brits, five lvor Novello Music Awards and Music Week
named us Publisher of the Year for the eighth yearinarow.

20

Continental Europe

Continental European performance was mixed. Certain
markets, notably Germany and Italy, were impacted by
steep local market declines in recorded music. France
countered that trend as the recorded music market grew
3% year on year, while the Benelux countries also
generated revenue gains.

Japan

Japanhad a very strong year, increasing sales by over
5% inlarge part because of the strong performance
of Utada Hikaru's third aloum Deep River, which sold
over4m copies in Japan alone.



Music Publishing Turnover
(Em)
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*2003 at constant currency £416.6m
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New Developments

Shortly after the end of the financial year, in April 2003,
EMI acquired a further 30% of the Jobete catalogue
from Berry Gordy for US$109.3m, bringing EM/’s total
share in Jobete to 80%. This gives EMI greater control
over its superb array of Motown songs, together with
the financial benefit of being able to consolidate it for
tax purposes.

Successful writers contributing to this year included
Norah Jones, Pink, Enrique Iglesias, Pharrell Williams,
and White Stripes, and new signings included Dirty
Vegas, Busted, Ms Dynamite and Sean Paul, to name
afew.

New uses of Publishing’s music contributed additional
revenue streams to income this year including ring
tones and video games, as mentioned above. The
ring tone market has developed as cellular penetration
has continued to grow and users look for ways to
personalise their phones.

Music Publishing Operating Profit

(Em)
1078
105.0 035"
| I I
2000 2001 2002 2003

*2003 at constant currency £107.3m

Outlook

For the current financial year, we expect to see further
pressure on mechanical royalties in the face of a
continued expected decline in the global recorded
music market. Nevertheless, we expect to continue to
exploit aggressively our impressive catalogue of songs,
both current and classic, in the synchronisation market
and develop new income streams, such as ring tones,
video games, and on-line uses.
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‘EMI Music Publishing’s
resilient performance
reflects the strength
of its ability to develop
new revenue sources
and additional uses
of music.’
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Financial Review

Roger Faxon
Chief Financial Officer
EMI Group

The year ended 31 March 2003 was one of substantial
challenge for EMI as its primary market fell for the third
yearin a row. However, it was also a year of
unprecedented accomplishment.

The group implemented a comprehensive
reorganisation of its Recorded Music division, reducing
headcount by 1,900 and the ongoing fixed cost base
by nearly £100m. Against a backdrop of lower sales,
Reccrded Music substantially improved its operating
margins driving its underlying profits up 81% and, for
the first time in five years, the US Recorded Music
business generated a profit. Music Publishing yet again
demonstrated its resilience in the face of exceedingly
difficult market conditions. By continuing to diversify

its income, it was able to hold firm its profits and margins.

The group also completed a sweeping balance sheet
restructuring, more than doubling average debt maturity
tofive years, and converted passive interests in HMV,
Viva Media and other assets into active investment in
the core business. Joined with the improved operating
perfarmance and careful cash management, the sale
ofthese assets resulted in areduction in net debt of
over £198m, reducing EMI’s leverage to below three
times EBITDA, down from 4.4 times just a year ago.

Group turnover fell by £270.4m (11.1%), including
adecrease of £64.0m from exchange on translation.
Allregions had lower turnover in the year. After excluding
currency effects, the decrease was entirely in EMI
Recorded Music, reflecting both the global downturn in
the recorded music market and EM/’s focus on ensuring
that sales are delivered profitably. At constant currency,
EMI Music Publishing sales remained flat.

Group operating profit (EBITA) increased 33.1%,
from £190.9m in 2002 to £254.0m in 2003, resulting
from the impact of the cost savings implemented in
EMI Recorded Music over the financial year, together
with additional margin improvements in that business
and a continued solid performance from EMI

Music Publishing.

An explanation of trading performance is given in the
Operating Reviews on pages 9to 22.

Group turnover for the second half fell by £164.9m
(12.0%) t0 £1,213.9m, of which decrease £36.1m

was attributable to exchange on translation. Excluding
the effects of currency, Recorded Music sales were
down by £120.7m or 10.4%. On a similar basis Music
Publishing turnover decreased by £8,1m, largely

as the result of timing differences.
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Trading and Adjusted Profit Before Tax

Turnover Operating profit*
2003 2002 Change 2003 2002 Change
£m £m % £m £m %
Reccrded Music 1,774.2 2,029.4 (12.6) 150.5 83.1 81.1
Music Publishing 401.2 416.4 (3.7) 103.5 107.8 (4.0)
Group Total 2,175.4 2,445.8 (11.1) 254.0 190.9 33.1
Return on sales 11.7% 7.8%

* Before operating exceptional items and amortisation of goodwill and music copyrights

Group operating profit for the second half was £27.2m
higher than last year, at £175.0m. This included a loss

of £1.8m from exchange on translation. Second-half
Reccrded Music profits wers up 33.7% to £121.9m

at constant exchange rates, reflecting the substantial
turnaround in its North American business and continued
strong results in the UK, partially offset by decreasesin
otherregions, particularly Continental Europe. Timing
differences resulted in Music Publishing operating profit
falling 3.0% at constant exchange rates to £54.9m.

Following the exit in the previous year from loss-making
Reccrded Music satellite operations, operating profit

in associates moved from aloss of £1.1m last yearto

a profit of £0.2m this year.

In May 2002, HMV Group plc listed on the London Stock
Exchange, and EMI simultaneously reduced its stake

to 14.5%. In November 2002, EMI sold this remaining
stake. Therefore, the group no longer consolidates
HMV’s operating profit and interest charges, which

last year were £44.6m and £20.7m, respectively. For the
period up to flotation, EMI’s share of HMV'’s operating
profitwas £0.4m, and of its finance charges, £1.2m.

Group finance charges of £76.1m were £15.7m higher
than last year as the result of higher interest rates
following the restructuring of debt into longer-term
instruments, which more than offset the impact from the
substantial reduction in overall debt levels. In February
2003, EMI crystallised a reduction in the long-term cost
ofits US bond by unwinding certain derivative positions.
The interest charge on these bonds will in the future

be offset by a proportion of the gain resulting from

this action.

Adjusted profit before tax, amortisation and exceptional
items (adjusted PBT) grew 15.7%, from £153.3min 2002
to £177.3min 2003.

Other Items Affecting Earnings

The group tax rate, before amortisation and exceptional
items, fell to 25% from 30% last year. A major
contributor to the reductionin the tax rate is the return
to profitability of our US business, which has brought
forward tax losses available for offset, and somewhat
lower profits in Japan, the group’s highest tax-paying
territory.

Amortisation of copyrights acquired and goodwill on
acquisition fell to £42.8m from £51.3min the previous
year, reflecting the write-down of investments in the year
ended 31 March 2002 in connection with the Recorded
Music restructuring, and exchange.

During the period, the group incurred a non-cash charge
of £24.9m arising from the write-down of certain
investments and other assets, including EMI Group
shares held in the Employee Benefit Trust. This is
reported as an operating exceptional cost.

Thisis in contrast to the year ended 31 March 2002,
in which the group incurred an exceptional operating
charge of £242.4m relating to restructuring and
reorganisation costs, mainly within EMI Recorded
Music. In that same period, HMV Group also incurred
exceptional costs, of which EMI's share was £12.4m.

The group benefited from a non-operating exceptional
profit of £209.7m, largely arising from the disposal of its
stakes in HMV and Viva Media AG, offset by a modest
loss relating to certain other disposals.

The minority interest charge has fallen from £8.5m to
£6.4m, as a result of the decrease in profitability of our
Japanese Recorded Music business in the year.

The overall group result was a profitof £229.7m,
compared with aloss of £199.5m inthe previous year,
animprovement of £429.2m.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share were 15.6p,
compared with 11.8p. The Board isrecommending
afinal dividend of 6.0p per share to result in a total
dividend of 8.0p per share, unchanged from last year.
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“The year ended 31 March 2003 was one of
substantial challenge but also unprecedented

accomplishment for EMI.’

Cash Flow and Net Borrowings

The net cash inflow from operating activities was
£117.2m. After net proceeds from acquisitions,
disposals and financial investments of £204.5m, capital
expenditure of £59.2m, tax paid of £38.7m, net interest
costs of £4.6m (including the gain on the swap unwind
discussed above), dividends paid of £35.9m, (including
those to minorities) and currency translation gains and
other movements of £14.8m, net debt decreased by
£198.1mto £859.8m.

Pensions

The group continuesto account under SSAP 24, but its
disclosures also include those required by FRS 17. EMI
maintains a number of defined benefit plans around the
world the largest of which is the UK pension plan. As at
31 March 2002, that plan was in surplus by £68m, as
calculated pursuant to FRS 17. With the decline in share
prices to 31 March 2003, the asset value of the fund has
fallen. Therefore, as calculated pursuant tothe FRS 17
accounting standard, the fund would show a deficit as
at 31 March 2003 of £116m, or £81.2m net of deferred
tax. Under FRS 17, the calculation of the net position of
the fund is highly sensitive to several factors. For
example, had the calculation been performed as of 15
May 2003 as opposed to 31 March 2003, the asset value
of the fund would have been higher by almast £40m
given therise in share values in the intervening period.

The group is scheduled to receive the triennial actuarial
valuation of the UK fund as at 31 March 2003 in the
coming months. Based upon the outcome of that
valuation, the group will review its funding policies with
respect to the fund.

Treasury Policy

Treasury activities are carried out within a framework
of policies and guidelines approved by the Board,

with control and monitoring delegated to the Treasury
Management Committee, chaired by the Chief Financial
Officer. These policies aim to ensure that adequate,
cost-effective funding is available to the group at all
times, and that exposure to financial risks is minimised.
The existing Treasury policies were reviewed by the
Board in April 2002 and have remained substantially
unchanged throughout the financial year.

Financial instruments held by the group comprise
derivatives, borrowings, cash and liquid resources and
other financial assets and liabilities. Their purpose is

to raise finance for the group’s operations. Treasury
policies prohibit their use for speculative purposes.
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Funding

During the year, EMI restructured its debt into medium-
and long-term facilities. The six-year sterling bond
issued in May was increased in June to £325m, and

in August a further US$180m was raised from a private
placement of debt with maturities of between seven

and 10 years. Together with net proceeds from the HMV
disposal of £209.5m and £35.6m from the sale of fixed
asset investments, these funds were used to repay and
cancel part of the £1.3bn revolving credit facility finalised
in April 2002.

The group borrows in various currencies at fixed

and floating rates, and uses swaps, caps and collars

to manage interest rate exposure. Unless otherwise
approved by the Board, Treasury policy is to keep
between 25% and 75% of borrowings at fixed or
capped rates. As a result of the reduction in borrowings
during the year, and as approved by the Board, at the
yearend virtually all borrowings were fixed or capped.
Financial instruments held at 31 March 2003 to manage
interest rate risk are disclosed in Note 19(viii) on page 79.

Foreign Currency Risk

The group faces currency exposure from exchange rate
fluctuation against sterling. Balance sheet exposures
are hedged to the extent that overseas liabilities,
including borrowings, provide a natural hedge. Group
policyis not to undertake additional balance sheet
hedging measures, nor to hedge profit and loss account
translation exposure. Transaction exposures are
hedged, where there are material itemsthathave a

high probability of occurring, with the use of forward
exchange rate contracts. Forward rate contracts held at
31 March 2003 are disclosec in Note 19(viii) on page 79.
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Social Responsibility

At EMI we believe that sound values are key to business
success. Our Standards of Business Conduct policy,
aimed principally at our employees, sets out the basic
values by which we manage our business.

This vear we have developed a public statement

that integrates our policies in a number of key areas

of corporate social responsibility (CSR): workplace,
community, environment, human rights, product values
and supplier management. The CSR policy was adopted
by the Board in April 2003, and will be published this
summer in our Social Responsibility Report for 2003.

We believe that this is a good step forward in terms
ofthe increased levels of transparency that many of

our stakeholders —artists, employees, shareholders,
customers, suppliers, governments and society atlarge
—areasking for. We are also continuing to expand the
scope of our reporting to cover a wider range of CSR
areas in our policy and this year our reporting of
employment issues includes diversity.

We are pleased that we continue to be included in
anumber of CSR indices, such as FTSE4Good and
the Dow Jones Sustainability Group Index, and have
retained our high sector ranking in Business in the
Environment’s 2002 ‘Index of Corporate Environmental
Engagement’.

‘We have developed a public

statement that integrates
our policies in a number

of key areas of corporate
social responsibility:
workplace,community,
environment,human rights,
product values and supplier
management.’

During the year we engaged with a number of investors
and investment research organisations about our CSR
practices, and were accepted as members of the
Corporate Responsibility Group, an alliance of leading
UK companies dedicated to driving forward corporate
social responsibility. Within our sector, we continue to
play an active role in the Media Sector CSR Forum as

it works to identify key social responsibility issues for
the sector and establish best practice.

Employment

The integrated CSR policy includes the key paoints of
our employment policy framework - equal opportunity,
health and safety, open communication and fair reward.
Responsibility for the management of employment
matters continues to rest with each business operation
within that framework.

We are committed to equal opportunity for all employees
regardless of gender, ethnic or national origin, religion,
disability, age, marital status or sexual orientation.

We have begun to measure workforce diversity, in the
UK and North America. In these regions, women made
up 48% of all staff and 32 % of management, and

ethnic minorities made up 15% of all staff and 6%

of management. A very small percentage of our staff
(less than 1%) in these regions are disabled.
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As part of our commitment to training and development,
the Recorded Music division will be following up its
recently launched performance management initiative
with development programmes to encourage learning
and development of core management skills. This
complements programmes already in place at a local
level in a number of our operating companies.

In employee health and safety, we have built on last
year’s reporting of UK performance and gathered
statistics for most of our worldwide locations. These
now cover all our manufacturing plants, distribution
centres and recording studios as well as approximately
70% of our office locations. We had 55 reportable
injuries/illnesses (8 per 1,000 employees), based on UK
standards, and an average of 4.1 days’ absence through
illness per employee. We incurred no healthand safety
enforcement notices or convictions in any country in
which we operate.

We have worked during the year to improve internal
communications — through a new worldwide, fortnightly
electronic newsletter, and by revamping our global
intranet to provide a more useful, accessible and
practical tool.

Community

We aim to make a positive contribution to the
communities in which we operate, andtobe a
responsible neighbour. Globally, the main causes we
support are youth and education, arts and culture,
and health and welfare, and our businesses determine
their community investment priorities locally within
that framework.

At a corporate level, EMI continues to fund the
administration costs of the Music Sound Foundation
(MSF), enabling it to devote all of its resources to its
funding activities.

MSF continues to do wonderful work in the area

of children’s music education and has now made
cumulative donations exceeding £1.6m to schools,
students and teachers throughout Britain.

MSF’s main activity remains the sponsorship of
secondary schools that aspire to become performing
arts colleges, and it is now the largest single sponsor
ofthese arts colleges in the UK. To date 22 schools have
successfully achieved arts college status with the help
of MSF, bringing enhanced music, drama and dance
education to over 20,000 students.

Rising costs mean that the demand for assistance from
young people needing to improve the quality of their
chosen musical instrument continues to grow. MSF
has helped hundreds of individual students upgrade
their instruments and, through its bursary scheme,

has enabled dozens more to further their studies

at music colleges.

EMI’s worldwide charitable and sponsorship donations
inthe yeartotalled £1.5m. Inthe UK the scale of EMI's
overall activity qualifies it for the PerCent Club logo,

the community investment benchmarking schemerun
by Business in the Community. The logo is assigned

to companies that invest more than 1% of their pre-tax
profits in the community, through a combination of cash,
time and gifts in kind.
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Individual operating companies provide support to
community and charitable activities in the form of one-
off and longer-term cash donations, by provision of
materials and facilities and by contributing employee
time. Some examples follow:

In South Africa, EMI now supports Cotlands, a charity
that provides care for abused, abandoned or terminally

ill children with the objective of creating self-sufficiency
for children and families living with HIV and Aids. In the
run up to World Aids Day, EMI arranged for local pop
group 101 to meet the Cotlands children, and made a
generous donation to the charity. EMI staff will now forge
closer links by providing commercial input and linking
with other EMI-signed artists who want to get involved.

Inthe US, EMI's Capitol Records continued its long-
standing support of the California Institute of Arts
(CalArts) by providing studio time at Capitol Tower for

a selected number of students (usually 10 groups a year)
to record and mix a CD, and then manufacturing copies
for distribution to the music press, college radio stations,
educational conferences and other audiences. Some
500 young musicians, composers and graphic
designers from CalArts have had their best work
documented and distributed as a result of this annual
project, and there is now a long list of talented CalArts
graduates who have gone on to successful careers

in music, working with artists including Macy Gray,

The Wallflowers and Smashing Pumpkins.

The UK’s BRIT School (British Record Industry Trust)
for Performing Arts and Technology is the only school

in Britain dedicated to education and vocational training
forthe performing arts, media, art and design, and the
technologies that make performance possible. It was

established in 1992 with initial funding from the UK
music industry. EMI Recorded Music in the UK offers
very practical help in addition to its continuing financial
support of the school: each year staff from EMI make

a presentation to one of the BRIT School student groups
and set a project for the students to undertake -
generally these relate to developing business and
marketing plans for a hypothetical band.

Environment

A highlight of the year in our environmental management
programme was the introduction of renewable energy
to more of our premises. In the UK, we have now moved
to 100% renewables for electricity supply throughout
our operations, and the manufacturing and distribution
facility at Uden in the Netherlands also switched to
renewables this year. CD manufacturing is energy
intensive compared to the rest of our operations, and
this should, therefore, produce a significant reduction

in our worldwide carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions and
aconsequent reduction in our global warming impact.
Our CO:z emissions this year dropped by 7.9% in
absolute terms, although with the 11% fallin revenue
they rose by 3.6% when related to turnover.

We have been tracking our solvent use since 1995, and
have made steady progress in its reduction through both
process changes and the use of replacement solutions.
Solvents are volatile organic compounds; as such,

they can both pollute the factory environment and,

in quantity, contribute to photo-chemical smog.
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This year, our plant in Uden discovered a calculation
errorin prior years that had led to under-reporting. This
has now been corrected, and it accounts for almost all
ofthe increase in reported solvent consumption this year
(14.7% in absolute terms and 29.1% per unit produced).
Our target is to resume our reduction in solvent use from
this new base.

We generate very small amounts of hazardous waste
which we continue to try to minimise. This year showed
adrop of a further 11% per unit produced. In CD
production, our levels of non-hazardous polycarbonate
scrap rose by 1.6% per unit produced. The increase is
almost wholly the result of the closure in 2002 of our UK
plant, which had a very low scrap rate. Mostindividual
plants achieved reductions.

Our US manufacturing facility in Jacksonville, lllingis,
has successfully completed its first-round audit

for certification to the ISO 14001 environmental
management system and is on track for complete
certification by the end of June 2003.

With this in place, 93% of our CD output wil come

from certified plants (up from 60% in the year ended
31 March 2003).
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“The manufacturing and
distribution facility at Uden
in the Netherlands also
switched to renewable
energy this year.’

We continued our participation in ‘Digital Europe’,
apan-European study on the environmental and sccial
effects of e-business supported by the European
Commission and managed by the UK’s Forum for the
Future. Our environmental case study, carried out by
German research partner the Wuppertal Institute,

was the first attempt to quantify the impact of a shift
from the traditional business model of manufacturing
and distributing a physical CD to using direct digital
distribution of the music. The initial findings are
interesting, and show that, with so many variables
involved (eg the time to download a music file),
consumer behaviour will play a large part in realising
the potential environmental benefits of digital
distribution. If a consumer downloads and plays music
digitally (but does not burn a hard copy onto a blank CD)
then, inthe best case, less than half the resources are
used compared to traditional physical production.

If CDs are burned at home, this saving could be reduced,
reversed or, in some cases, enhanced, depending on
how efficiently the CD-Rs are used for music storage.

We feel this has been a year of good progress in terms
of EMI's contribution to society, and we will be building
onthisin future.









Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Eric Nicoli (52)
Chairman

Eric Nicoli was appointed to the Board in 1993 as a
Non-executive Director, becoming executive Chairman
inJuly 1999. Until 30 April 1999, he was Group Chief
Executive of United Biscuits (Holdings) plc (UB), which
he joined from Rowntree Mackintosh in 1980. He was
appointed to the UB Board in 1989 as Chief Executive,
European Operations and became Chief Executive

of UBin 1991.

Mr Nicaoliis non-executive Chairman of HMV Group plc
and The Tussauds Group Ltd, Chairman of The PerCent
Cluband The EMI Group Archive Trust, a Deputy
Chairman of Business in the Community and a Director
of Caldicott Trust Ltd, Charity Projects and Comic
Relief Ltd.

Alain Levy (56)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
EMI Recorded Music

Alain Levy joined EMI and was appointed to the Board
on 15 October 2001.

Mr Levy joined CBS International (now Sony Music) in
1972 and, after 12 years, moved to PolyGram, where he
became President and CEQin 1991. In both companies
he held various posts involving manufacturing, logistics,
marketing and management. Mr Levy remained with
PolyGram until it was sold to Seagram in 1998.

Mr Levy is a Director of David Linley & Co. Ltd and
lIchester Investments Ltd. He also sits on the advisory
board of Schroders Ventures in the US and onthe
European advisory board of Wharton Business School.

Martin Bandier (61)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
EMI Music Publishing

Martin Bandier was appointed to the Board in April 1998.
He joined EMI Music Publishing as its Vice Chairman in
1989 upon the acquisition of SBK Entertainment World
Inc. (SBK), in which he was a founding partner. He was
appointed CEO of EMI Music Publishing in 1991
becoming, inaddition, Chairmanin 1998.

Mr Bandier entered the music publishing business in
1975 as a founding partner of the Entertainment Music
Company and the Entertainment Television Company
and, together with his partners, created SBK in 1986.

Mr Bandier is a Director of the National Music
Publishers’ Association, the BMI Foundation, the
Songwriters’ Hall of Fame, the Rock and Roll Hall of
Fame and the Syracuse University Board of Trustees.
He is also a member of the Friars Foundation and the
National Academy of Recording Arts and Sciences.

Roger Faxon (54)
Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Roger Faxonwas appointed CFO and joined the EMI
Board on 5 February 2002. He joined EMIin 1994,
initially as Senior Vice President, Business Development
& Strategy, EMI Music and, from April 1999, as Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, EMI Music
Publishing.

Prior to 1994, Mr Faxon held finance, operations and
general management positions. These posts included
five years with Sotheby’s, latterly as Managing Director,
Sotheby’s Europe and, previously, Chief Operating
Officer, Sotheby’s North and South America. This
followed 10 years in the motion picture industry with
LUCASFILM Ltd, The Mount Company and, finally,
Columbia Pictures Entertainment. Earlier, Mr Faxon
spent six years on the staff of the US Congress.
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Non-executive Directors

Sir Dominic Cadbury (63)
Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent
Non-executive Director

Sir Dominic joined the Board in 1998, becoming Deputy
Chairman and Senior Independent Non-executive
Director in July 1999. He is Chairman of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committees.

Sir Dominic retired as Chairman of Cadbury Schweppes
plcon 12 May 2000 after seven years in that post, having
joined the company in 1964 after graduation from
Stanford University. He joined the Board of Cadbury
Schweppesin 1974 as Managing Director of its Foods
Division and subsequently held anumber of Board
positions.

Sir Dominic is Chairman of The Economist Group and
The Wellcome Trust. He is also a Director of the Teaching
Awards Trust, Transense Technologies plc, Misys plc
and The Thirty Club of London Ltd, and was installed

as Chancellor of Birmingham University on

3 December 2002.

Dr Harald Einsmann (69)

Harald Einsmann joined the Board in 1992. He retired

as Executive Vice President and a member of Procter &
Gamble’s Main Board and Executive Committee in 1999.

Dr Einsmann is a Director of Tesco plc, British American
Tobacco plc and European Mediaxchange Ltd. He is
also a member of the Board of Stora-Enso OY of Finland
and heis the Executive Chairman of Findus A.B. of
Sweden; both companies are members of the Swedish
Wallenberg Group.
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Peter Georgescu (64)
Peter Georgescu joined the Board on 1 September
2002.

Mr Georgescu is Chairman Emeritus of Young &
Rubicam Inc., a network of commercial communications
companies, having served as the company’s Chairman
and CEO from 1994 until January 2000. His career spans
38 years, with top managemesnt experience both inthe
US and Europe. Mr Georgescu emigrated to the US
from Romaniain 1954. He was educated at Exeter
Academy, received his BA with cum laude honours

from Princeton and has an MBA from the Stanford
Business School.

Mr Georgescu is a Director of Levi Strauss & Co.,
International Flavors & Fragrances Inc. and Toys “R" Us,
Inc. He is also Vice Chairman of the Directors of New
York Fresbyterian Hospital, serves on the Board

of Directors of the New York Philharmonic and
WNET/Channel 13, and is a member of the Council

on Foreign Relations.

David Londoner (66)
David Londoner joined the Board on 13 May 2003.

Mr Londoner is the General Partner of The North River
Company, L.P, a family investment partnership. He has
been in the securities business his entire professional
life and spent most of his career at Schroder & Co. Inc.,
joining a predecessor firm, Wertheim & Co., in 1972
and leaving when it was sold in 2000.

Mr Londoner is a director of Meredith Corp. and the
New York Futures Exchange. He is also a Trustee of the
American Museum of the Moving Image.

Kathleen O’'Donovan (46)
Kathleen O’Donovan joined the Board in 1997 and has
chaired the Audit Committee since 1999.

Ms O’'Donovan was, until December 2002, Finance
Director of Invensys plc, the global engineering services
company formed by the combination of BTR and Siebe
in 1999.

She is also a member of the Court of the Bank of
England, and a Director of Prudential plc and Great
Portland Estates PLC.



Board Committees

Audit Committee
Chaired by Kathleen O’Donovan

Membership: All Non-executive
Directors

The Chief Financial Officer, the
Vice President, Internal Audit, and
representatives of the Company’s
external auditor attend meetings
by invitation.

Remuneration Committee
Chaired by the Deputy Chairman

Membership: All Non-executive
Directors

The Chairman and the Group’s
Human Resources Director normally
attend meetings by invitation.

Nomination Committee
Chaired by the Deputy Chairman

Membership: All Non-executive
Directors and the Chairman

Executive Committee
Chaired by the Chairman

Membership: All Executive Directors

Senior Company executives attend.

Finance Committee
Usually chaired by the Chairman

Membership: The Chairman and the
Chief Financial Officer

The Senior Vice President, Tax and
Treasury, may be invited to attend
meetings.

Capex Committee
Chaired by the senior Director
present

Membership: The Chairman and the
Chief Financial Officer

Other Directors, senior Company
executives and external advisers
may be invited to attend meetings.
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Directors’ Report

for the year ended 31 March 2003

The Chairman’s Statement, the Operating Reviews and
the Financial Review in this Annual Report together
contain details of the principal operations of the Group
and their results during the year as well as likely future
developments.

Dividends

An interim dividend of 2.0p per Ordinary Share was
paid on 4 April 2003. The Board is recommending
afinal dividend of 6.0p per Ordinary Share, making a
total of 8.0p (2002: 8.0p). The final dividend will be paid
on Friday, 3 October 2003 to Ordinary Shareholders
on the register as at the close of business on Friday,

5 September 2003, with the shares going ex-dividend
on Wednesday, 3 September 2003.

Substantial shareholders
As at 15 May 2003 the Company had been notified of the
following interests of 3% or more in its Ordinary Shares:

No. of % of

shares capital held

Insight Investment Management Ltd/HBOS plc 46,029,466 5.83

The Gapital Group Companies, Inc. 43,297,160 5.49

Schroder Investment Management Ltd 39,868,983 5.06

Aviva ple/Morley Fund Management Ltd 36,849,034 4.67
Merrill Lynch & Co, Inc. including

Merrill Lynch Investment Managers Ltd 32,170,777 4.08

AXAS.A and its subsidiaries 30,937,991 3.92

Legal & General Investment ManagementLtd 28,464,577 3.61

Prudential plc group of companies 26,393,211 3.35
Share capital
Changes in the Company'’s share capital during the year

are set out in Note 25 on pages 82 and 83.

Employment policies
Information on the Group’s employment policies is given
on pages 31 and 32.

Supplier payment policy

The Company negotiates payment terms with its
suppliers on an individual basis, with the normal spread
being payment at the end of the month following delivery
plus 30 or 60 days. Itis the Company’s policy to settle
the terms of payment when agreeing the terms of each
transaction, to ensure that the suppliers are made aware
of the terms, and to abide by them. The number of days’
purchases outstanding at 31 March 2003 is calculated

at 53 days (2002: 25 days).

Charitable and political contributions

Charitable, sponsorship and fundraising activities
carried out during the year within the Group contributed
£1.5m (2002: £1.7m)to charitable organisations and
communities around the world. These included UK
charitable donations amounting to £0.4m (2002: £0.1m).
No UK palitical contributions were made (2002: £nil).

Regearch and develonment FRED)

During the year, Group expenditure on R&D totalled
£0.1m (2002: £0.2m).
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Directors

The present Directors of the Company are named on
pages 37 and 38. All served as Directors throughout the
year, cther than Mr P A Georgescu and Mr D J Londoner,
who were appointed on 1 September 2002 and 13 May
2003, respectively.

Mr M Jackson resigned as a Director on 7 May 2002,
following the completion of the acquisition of USA
Networks' US entertainment division by Vivendi
Universal, and Mr H R Jenkins retired as a Director
on 19 July 2002 at the conclusion of the 2002 Annual
General Meeting.

Mr E L Nicoli retires by rotation at the Annual General
Meeting (AGM’) pursuant to Article 112(A) and, being
eligible, offers himself for re-election.

Mr Georgescu and Mr Londoner retire at the AGM
pursuant to Article 112(B) and, being eligible, offer
themselves for election.

No Director had a material interest in any contract of
significance subsisting at the end of or during the year
involving any Group company, other than by virtue of
having a service contract, and as set out in Note 32(jii) on
page 88. In July 2002, Mr KM Berry, a former Director,
exercised his option to purchase, at fair market value,
the house in Los Angeles that was provided to him rent-
free by the Group.

Details of Directors’ interestsin the shares of the
Company are set out in the Remuneration Report
on pages 51to 53.

Auditor

Resolutions to reappoint Ernst & Young LLP as the
Company's auditor and authorising the Directors
to determine its remuneration will be put to the
forthcoming AGM.

Annual General Meeting

The 2003 AGM of the Company will be held at 2.30pm
on Wednesday, 9 July 2003 at the Sainsbury Wing of the
National Gallery, Trafalgar Square, London WC2N 5DN.
The Notice of the AGM accompanies this Annual
Report. In addition to the ordinary business of the
meeting, resolutions will be put to shareholders to give
authority to the Directors to allot shares, to disapply
pre-emption rights, to purchase the Company’s own
shares and to approve the new Executive Share
Incentive Plan. Further explanations of these matters
are provided in the letter to shareholders that
accompanies the Notice.

Electronic Proxy Appointment (‘EPA’)

EPA isbeing made available again at this vear's AGM.
CREST members may also use the CREST electronic
proxy appointment service. Further information
regarding EPAis set out in the notes in the Notice

of AGM and on the Proxy Form.

By Order of the Board
C P Ashcroft
Secretary

19 May 2003



Corporate Governance

EMI is committed to high standards of corporate governance.
The Board considers that the Company has complied
throughout the year with the Code Provisions set out in
Section 1 of the Combined Code issued by the Committee on
Corporate Governance, apart from those relating to the length
of Directors’ service contracts, which are discussed in the
Remuneration Report on pages 47 and 48.

Ernst & Young LLP has reviewed the Company’s statement
as to its compliance with the Combined Code, in so faras it
relates to those parts of the Combined Code which the UK
Listing Authority specifies for its review, and its report is set
outonpage 57.

The remainder of this section provides an explanation of how
EMI applies the principles of good governance that are set out
in the Combined Code.

The Board

The Board of EMI currently comprises four Executive Directors
and five Non-executive Directors. All of the Non-executive
Directors are considered to be independent of management
and free from any business or other relationship that could
materially interfere with the exercise of their independent
judgement. The Board considers that this includes Dr Harald
Einsmann who has been a Non-executive Director since 1992.
As reflected in their biographies, which appear on pages

37 and 38, the Directors have a wide and balanced range

of experience in multinational and consumer-orientated
businasses.

Eric Nicoli is executive Chairman of the Company, which
incorporates the role of chief executive officer. Day-to-day
executive responsibility for the running of the Company's two
main businesses lies with Alain Levy, as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, EMI Recorded Music, and Martin Bandier,
as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, EMI Music
Publishing, who each report to Eric Nicoli.

In recent years, and as explained in previous Annual Reports,
the Board has concluded that EMI has been best served by
the GEOs of the Recorded Music and Music Publishing
businasses reporting to an executive chairman who
complements their music industry skills. The Board has further
concluded that the interposition of another senior executive
over the business CEOs would lead to unnecessary
duplication and diffusion of responsibility.

The Board considers that, for the present, the structure
outlinad above is the most effective for EMl and is in the best
interests of both the Company and its shareholders.
Furthermore, the Board considers that the nature and level of
matters reserved for decision, either to the Board as a whole
orto standing committees of the Board, appropriately limit the
autharity of the Chairman and reflect the combination of the
posts of chairman and chief executive officer in one person.

Itis the Board’s policy that, so long as the Chairman is also

the chief executive officer of the Company, the independent
Non-executive Directors should comprise a numerical majority
of the Board and that the senior independent Non-executive
Director should also be either sole or joint Deputy Chairman.
Between 7 May and 19 July 2002 and from 1 September 2002
to 13 May 2003, there have been four Non-executive Directors;
for the short period from 19 July to 1 September 2002, there
were three such Directors. The number of Non-executive
Directors increased to five on 13 May 2003. Sir Dominic
Cadbury is the senior independent Non-executive Director.

The Board as a whole considers the appointment of Directors
and executive appointments within the Board, based on
recommendations from the Nomination Committee. The
Articles of Association include a requirement that all Directors
should submit themselves for re-election by the shareholders
atleast once every three years.

The Board meszts at least seven times each year, with
additional meetings or contact between meetings as
necessary. The programme for each year is approved by the
Board. Currently, the programme includes reviews of strategy
together with the operations and results of the two main
business units, as well as the approval of annual budgets.
Actual results for the Group and individual business units are
reported to all Directors each month. At least once each year
the Board meets at the premises of one of the Group's
business operations, to allow for presentations by, and more
detailed discussions with, local management.

These procedures, together with other regular and ad hoc
reports, are intended to ensure that the Board is supplied in
a timely manner with information that is appropriate to the
discharge of its duties.

The Board has delegated certain matters to standing
committees, details of which are set out below. However, to
ensure its overall control of the Company’s affairs, the Board
has reserved certain matters to itself for decision. These
include the Group’s strategic plans and annual operating
budgets, significant acquisitions or disposals of companies,
businesses orassets, and significant contractual
commitments or items of expenditure, together with policies
relating to the Group's treasury function, pensions, major
litigation, empoyee share schemes, and environmental

and ethical issues.

All Directors have access to the services and advice of the
Company Secretary. There are also procedures for Directors,
in appropriate circumstances, to obtainindependent
professional advice at the cost of the Company.

The Executive Directors are permitted to take external
appointments as non-executive directers but, usually only
one such appointment may be of another publicly quoted
company. They may retain the remuneration from such
appointments. All appointments must be approved by

the Board to ensure that they do not give rise to conflicts
of interest.

Board committees

The principal committees of the Board are the Audit,
Remuneration, Nomination and Executive Committees.
Reflecting the important role played by the independent Non-
executive Directors in ensuring high standards of corporate
governance, the Audit and Remuneration Committees
comprise all the Non-executive Directors. Each committee
has written terms of reference and levels of authority and,
except in the case of the Remuneration Committee, minutes
of meetings are circulated to all Directors.
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Corporate Governance

continued

The role of the Remuneration Committee, which is chaired
by Sir Dominic Cadbury, is described on page 44. It meets
at least three times each year. The main responsibilities and
procedures of the other three principal Committees are as
follows:

Audit Committee — chaired by Kathleen O'Donovan

and comprising all the Non-executive Directors - makes
recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment

of the external auditor. Each year the Audit Committee reviews
the independence and objectivity of the external auditor with
a view to confirming that, in its opinion, the maintenance of
objectivity on the one hand and value for money on the other
have been kept appropriately in balance. In this context, the
Committee currently considers that it is appropriate for the
external auditor to provide to the Group tax compliance and
other accounting services, including those in connection with
supporting and reporting on financial representations in public
documentation. The provision of these and other financial
services continues to be assessed by the Committeeon a
case-by-case basis.

The Committee reviews the half-year and annual financial
staterments, with particular reference to accounting policies
and practices, and the scope and results of the audit. It also
reviews the Group’s system of internal control including the
risk assessment and audit plan of the Internal Audit
Department and other control procedures. The Committee
meets three times each year and its meetings are normally
attended by the Chief Financial Officer, the external auditor
and the Vice President, Internal Audit. At least once each
year the Committee meets with the external auditor without the
presence of Executive Directors or other management.

Nomination Committee — chaired by Sir Dominic Cadbury and
compirising all the Non-executive Directors and the Chairman—
makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
Directors and the reappointment of Non-executive Directors
on the expiry of their three-year term of appointment. The
Committee meets when required.

Executive Committee - chaired by the Chairman and
comprising the chief executive officers of the Ccmpany's two
main businesses, together with the Chief Financial Officer —
responsible for the approval of acquisitions, divestments,
capital expenditure and contractual commitments below the
level that the Board has reserved to itself for decision, and for
certain operational, administrative and other routine matters.
The Committee also regularly reviews and reports to the Board
on the performance of the Group’s businesses. The Committee
meets at least ten times each year and senior Group executives
regularly attend meetings.

Directors’ remuneration

The Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 54 gives information
about the Directors’ remuneration.
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Directors’ responsibilities

UK company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and Group as well
as the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing
those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

= select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

s make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent; and,

 state whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with these
requirements in preparing the financial statements on pages
5810 89.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time,
the financial position of the Group and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Going concern

The Directors believe, after making inquiries that they consider
to be appropriate, that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements.

Internal control

The Board is responsible for the Group’s systems of internal
control and for reviewing their effectiveness. These can only
provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The full Board meets regularly throughout the year and the
matters specifically reserved for its approval ensure that the
Directors maintain control over significant strategic, financial
and compliance matters.

The Group has an established organisational structure with
clearly defined lines of responsibility and reporting. The Board
has devolved to executive management responsibility for
implementing and maintaining the Group’s system of internal
control. Each business unit operates in accordance with
policies and procedures applicable to all of the Group’s units.



The Group operates comprehensive annual planning,
financial reporting and forecasting processes. The Board
formally approves strategic plans and annual budgets.

The Group’s performance is monitored against budget on
amonthly basis and all significant variances are investigated.
There are defined authorisation procedures in respect of
certain matters, including capital expenditure, investments,

the granting of guarantees and the use of financial instruments.

The Board also receives, twice yearly, a review of all material
litigation undertaken by or against the Group’s companies
and considers the associated risks.

The strength of an internal control system is dependent on the
quality and integrity of management and staff: those at senior
levels are informed about theirresponsibilities as to the
maintenance of sound systems of internal control. A routine
Group-wide process, which requires key executives and
managers to certify their compliance with the Group’s policies
and procedures, reinforces this integrity.

The internal audit function operates as one Group-wide
department which monitors and supports the internal control
system and reports both to the Audit Committee and the
Group’s senior management. The responsibilities of the
internal audit function include recommending improvements
in the control environment and ensuring compliance with the
Group’s procedures and policies. The Audit Committee
reviews the risk assessment and audit plan prepared by

the Internal Audit Department.

An ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing
the significant risks faced by the Group has been in place for
the year under review and up to the date of this Report. This
process is regularly reviewed by the Board and accords with
the requirements of Internal Control: Guidance for Directors
on the Combined Code.

During the year to 31 March 2003, significant potential risks
facing the Group have been assessed and graded ina
process involving line and functional management throughout
the Group and internal audit. The controls in place to manage
or mitigate each risk were reviewed for adequacy, and the
processes to monitor and inform the Board about control
performance were confirmed. This assessment, which is
reviewed by the Audit Committee, is repeated annually.

The risk and control assessment is also shared with senior
management throughout the Group. During the review of
controls, particular attention was paid to those in place to
manage or mitigate any potential risks associated with

major artist investments.

The Board is aware of the disclosure guidelines on social
responsibility issued by the Association of British Insurers and
has approved a social responsibility policy for the Group,
covering environmental, employment, community and human
rights issues as well as product values and supplier
relationships. This provides an integrated top-level policy over
more detailed policies and codes covering the individual areas.

Existing risk assessment procedures caver social, ethical
and environmental issues. Additionally, the Group has begun
acomprehensive review of its risk management programme
that will include a review of the way in which it assesses and
monitors significant social, ethical and environmental issues.
A Social Responsibility Report (formerly the Environment and
Community Report) is published annually.

The Audit Committee receives additional assurance on the
operation of internal control systems around the Group,
primarily from Internal Audit, which presents the conclusions
of its reviews twice a year. The external auditor also takes
internal financial control into consideration as part of its audit.
In addition, incidences of control failure and the internal control
implications of significant business issues are recorded in

a central register, from which a summary report is prepared
for the Audit Committee. Appropriate actions are taken to
rectify any control failures. Any significant new issues and
material changes to the risk environment are reported at each
Board meeting.

The processes by which the Board receives assurance on the
effectiveness of the control systems did not apply during the
year to HMV Group plc, in which the Group ceased to have
aminority investment on 22 November 2002. Potential risks
to EMI were mitigated during that perioc through its
representation on the Board of HMV Group and rights under
shareholders’ agreements.

Investor relations

The Group is committed to regular and open dialogue with
investors. The Executive Directars hold discussions with
institutional shareholders and analysts and, in addition, there
are general presentations after the announcement of the half-
year and annual results. Individual shareholders have the
opportunity to guestion the Chairman and other Directors

at the AGM and can meet them informally after the AGM.
Results announcements and other press releases are made
available on the Group’s website as soon as possible after
their publication.
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Remuneration Report
for the year ended 31 March 2003

Remuneration Committee

The Board has delegated to the Remuneration Committee the
approval of the remuneration and employment terms of the
Executive Directors and certain other senior executives.

The Committee comprises the Non-executive Directors, all of
whom are considered to be independent, and its membership
during the year was as follows:

Committee Chairman
Sir Dominic Cadbury - Non-executive Deputy Chairman
and Senior Independent Non-executive Director

Committee Members

Harald Einsmann - Non-executive Director

Peter Georgescu - Non-executive Director (since his
appointment on 1 September 2002)

Michael Jackson - Non-executive Director (until his
resignation on 7 May 2002)

Hugh Jenkins - Non-exscutive Director (until his
retirement on 19 July 2002)

Kathleen O’Donovan - Non-executive Director

In addition, David Londoner joined the Committee on 13 May
2003 following his appointment as a Non-executive Director
onthat day.

Terms of reference
The key terms of reference of the Committee are as follows:

* Toreview in detail and approve all aspects ofthe terms
and conditions of employment of each Executive Director
of the Group, together with their pension rights and the
amount and basis of any compensation payable.

* Toreview and approve the base salaries of the most senior
direct-line reports to the Executive Directors, together with
their remuneration packages, their pension rights and the
amount and basis of any compensation payable.

¢ Toapprove the operation of any share plans (whether
executive or all-employee) including the exercise, on behalf
of the Board, of any authority delegated to the Board under
the rules of those plans.

* Toreview periodically and supervise, on behalf of the
Board, compliance by the Group with the Combined Code
published by the Committee on Corporate Governance
(June 1998), and any other applicable code of practice,
listing rule or other regulatory or best-practice requirement
relating to remuneration.

Attendance at meetings and advisers

During the year, the Committee appointed New Bridge Street
Consultants to become its adviser. This firm has provided
material advice to the Committee to assist itin developing
and monitoring policies for remunerating senior employees
throughout the Group, as well as the new long-term incentive
plan for which shareholders’ approval is being sought at the
2003 AGM. New Bridge Street Consultants has not, during
the year, provided any other services to the Group.

The Committee schedules three meetings during each year
but also holds additional meetings as and when material issues
arise for discussion. During the last financial year, the
Committee met on six occasions.
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No non-Committee members are entitled to attend meetings
of the Committee as of right although the Executive Chairman
(the ‘Chairman’), the Group Human Resources Director and
the Company Secretary and Group General Counsel (in his
capacity as Committee Secretary) are generally invited to
attend to assist and advise the Committee on matters under
consideration. Other executives may be invited to attend in
respect of specific issues where their guidance may be of
assistance to the Committee. Inthis regard, the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of both EMI Recorded Music and EMI
Music Publishing (respectively the ‘CEO Recorded Music’ and
the ‘CEO Music Publishing’) have attended meetings and have
provided material assistance and advice with respect to their
respective divisions, while the Chief Financial Officer (the
‘CFO’) has attended to assist with financial issues. None of
these attendees participates in any discussion relating to his
or her own remuneration.

In monitoring the level and mix cf remuneration packages,
the Committee has access to a number of music and general
industry remuneration surveys, covering both local and
international data. The Committee takes into account factors
such as the nature, size, complexity and international profile
of the surveyed companies relative to EMI; it also seeks such
specific advice from the external consultants as it considers
appropriate.

Policy statement on Directors’ remuneration

Background

The Committee recognises that. as a major UK-listed
compzny, EMI should comply with the highest standards of
corporate governance and, wherever it is appropriate to do

so having regard to the wider interests of shareholders, UK
remuneration best practices. Accordingly, the Committee
periodically reviews EMI's remuneration practices against
such standards and practices while recognising that the
achievement of success in the highly competitive worldwide
music market depends critically upon EMI’s ability to compete
for the management talent necessary to secure, developand
promote recording artists, composers and songwriters. EMI's
remuneration policies, therefore, will continue to reflect the
need to attract, retain and motivate top-calibre international
management in the context of remuneration levels and
practices in the international music and entertainment industry,
many of which are set in the US, the indigenous repertoire

of which, in the year ended 31 March 2003, amounted to 48%
of worldwide record sales. In this regard, it should be noted that
only 11% of EMI's senior executives are employed in the UK.

The Group's remuneration policies also recognise that the
Music Publishing and Recorded Music businesses operzate in
distinct marketplaces. The level and form of remuneration will
continue to be tailored to the different marketplaces in which
the Group competes and to recognise the overallimportance
of creative talent to the success of the Group.

The remuneration packages of the Executive Directors have
been designed to help them attain, and encourage themto
retain, long-term interests in EMI’s shares, and thereby align
their interests with those of shareholders. Performance-related
elements, in the form of annual bonuses and share-based
long-term incentives, represent a significant proportion of
remuneration, typically providing at least 50% of the total
annual remuneration opportunity for the achievement of
stretching performance targets.



Base salary

EMI believes pay should be closely linked to performance.
Base salary levels are determined by the Committee having
regard to the experience and performance of the individual
executive, the performance of the Group as a whole over the
preceding year, data regarding external salary levels for
comparable positions and internal relativities. The Committee
seeks to ensure that base salaries are generally set no higher
than the median for the music industry.

Recognising the requirements of good corporate governance
and adesire to constrain fixed costs to the advantage of all
shareholders, base salaries for certain operating executives,
most notably for the CEO Recorded Music, have been kept
significantly below industry market levels. In these instances,
in order to deliver competitive overall levels of pay, the balance
of the overall remuneration is weighted more significantly
towards long-term incentives than is the case with EMI’s
major competitors.

The base salaries for the Executive Directors for the financial
year were as follows:

E L Nicoli £680,000 pa

MN Bandier US$3,092,266 pa
AMJILevy £680,000 pa

RC Faxon US$766,025 pa

Salaries are reviewed annually with any increases generally
taking effecton 1 July.

Annual bonus
Annual bonus opportunities are in line with general industry
practice.

The Chairman’s and the CFO’s annual bonus opportunity
attarget and maximum performance is 50% and 100%,
respectively, of base salary. The CEO Music Publishing’s
annual bonus opportunity at target and maximum
performance is 50% and 80%, respectively, of base salary.
The CEO Recorded Music is entitled, under his service
agreement, to a maximum annual cash bonus of up to 200%
of base salary, based on achieving stretching pre-set
operating profit margins for EMI Recorded Music.

These bonus opportunities are paid in cash following the
approval of the accounts for tha relevant year. Executive
Directors no longer have the opportunity to defer receipt of

their bonuses for a period in return fora matching share award.

Performance criteria are tailored to individual positions and,
subject to an overriding discretion of the Committee to ensure
that bonuses are appropriate in all the circumstances,

are determined as follows:

s Forthe Chairman and the CFQ, bonuses are linked to the
attainment of pre-set financial targets for the Group. This
indicative amount can then be adjusted (up or down, but
subject to the maximum of 100%) by up to a third, if the
Committee believes circumstances so warrant.

* Theannual bonus for the CEO Music Publishing is based
on pre-set targets relating to the division’s economic profit
(ie taking into account the value of the investmentin the
business) from year to year, reflecting Music Publishing’s
objective to achieve sustained profit growth while
providing an adequate return on invested assets.

e Theannualbonus for the CEO Recorded Music is based on
the division achieving stretching operating margin targets.
Given the current uncertainty within the worldwide recorded
music market, the Committee believes that it is important to
control the cost structure of the Recorded Music business
toensure that costs can be supported by the repertoire as
it develops. It therefore considers that operating margin
should be the primary focus for the present. In addition,
as can be seen from pages 48 and 53, the CEO Recorded
Music has received option grants which provide a sufficient
incentive for him to grow the business in the interests of all
shareholders rather than simply maximising margin through
cost savings alone.

The Committee’s policy is not to pay transaction-related
bonuses.

Details of the bonuses achieved during the year by individual
Executive Directors are set out on page 50.

Long-term incentive arrangements

Of the Executive Directors, the Chairman and the CFO will
participate in the new Executive Share Incentive Plan (‘ESIP")
forwhich shareholder approval is being sought at this year's
AGM. Under the terms of the proposed ESIP, regular annual
awards of both share options and performance shares will
be made, with awards vesting after a fixad three-year period
subject to the achievement of demanding pre-vesting
performance conditions.

The Committee has determined that, for the firstaward to

be made under the ESIP in 2003, options over shares worth

up to two times base salary may be awarded, together with

an award of performance shares worth up to one times base
salary. These levels will only be exceeded, if necessary, in
recruitment cases but in no case will they exceed eight times
salary for options and four times salary for performance shares.
In accordance with the terms of his service contract, the CFO'’s
annual option grant will be not less than 250,000 shares.

One third of the number of share options granted may be
exercised if normalised earnings per share (‘EPS’) growth, over
the three years following grant (with no retesting opportunities),
exceeds an average of retail price index ('RPI’) plus 3% pa;

two thirds of the number of share options granted may be
exercised if normalised EPS growth exceeds an average of RPI
plus 5% pa; and all share options granted may be exercised

if normalised EPS growth exceeds an average of RPI plus 7%
pa. To the extent that the targets have not been fully satisfied,
options will lapse.

Performance share awards will vest by reference to the
Company'’s relative Total Shareholder Return ('TSR’)
performance over a fixed three-year period (with no retesting
opportunities). TSR is a measure of the return to a shareholder
(in terms of share price appreciation, assuming reinvestment
of any dividends) over a fixed period. 25% of the shares
subject to an award will vest if the Company’s TSR, relative

to the companies in the FTSE Mid-250 Index (excluding
investment trusts), as at the date of grant, is atleast at the
median of thatgroup. This willincrease, on a straight-line
basis, to full vesting if the Company’s TSR is at least at the
upper guintile (ie within the highest 20%6) of that group.

Both the starting and ending TSR of the Company and each
company in the comparator group will be assessed using three-
month average figures. In addition to satisfying the TSR
performance condition, awards will only vest to the extent

that the Committee considers that the Company’s TSR
performance is reflective of the underlying performance of

the Company over the period.
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Remuneration Report

continued

The EPS and TSR targets, which were selected following
extensive discussions with the Company’s leading institutional
shareholders and which have received the support of an
overwhelming majority of those shareholders, are considered
to be both demanding and stretching in light of the prevailing
business climate over the medium term.

The EPS growth targets were chosen because profit growth
(as measured through EPS) is currently a key objective within
EMI and is considered to be the most appropriate measure
of financial performance.

The FTSE Mid-250 Index was chosen as the TSR comparator
group as there are no independently quoted music majors to
provide a more bespoke comparator group and, therefore, it
was felt appropriate to compare the performance of EMI with
the constituents of the FTSE Mid-250 Index on the basis that,
from an investor perspective, shareholders have the choice of
investing in EMI as compared with other UK quoted
companies of a similar size.

In all the circumstances, the Committee considers these two
measures, taken together, to be the most appropriate method
of assessing the success of EMI over the medium term and,
accordingly, considers them to be appropriate performance
conditions.

The EPS measure used will be fully diluted EPS adjusted to
take account of exceptonal items. EMI's performance against
the EPS and TSR targes will be monitored by the Commiittee,
which will assess the extent to which the targets have been
achieved. The EPS calculations will be verified by the
Company’s external auditor while the TSR calcu ations will

be undertaken by New Bridge Street Consultants, using

data supplied by Datastream.

The CEO Music Publishing and the CEO Recorded Music
have one-off long-termincentive arrangements covering,

in Mr Bandier's case, the period from April 2001 to 31 March
2006 and, in Mr Lewvy's case, the period from October 2001
to 31 March 20086. In view of these one-off arrangements,
which are described below, neither of them will participate in
the ESIP for the duration of these arrangements:

* In2001, in place of overlapping annual share awards
based on three-year performance cycles, MrBandier was
granted a one-time performance share award under the
Group's Senior Executive Incentive Plan (‘'SEIP") of up to
1.25m shares. The performance condition for this award
requires 2% pa growth in the Music Publishing division’s
economic profit for the entire performance period to 31
March 2008, at which level one sixth of the shares accrue,
with maximum payout at 7% pa growth (with straight-line
vesting between these two points). Mr Bandier was alsa
granted arestricted share award under the SEIP of 662,500
shares. These shares will vest no earlier than 31 March
2006. The award was in lieu of additional base salary and
is not, therefore, subject to performance requirements.
The aim of the award was to bring Mr Bandier’s basic annual
remuneration into line with competitive practice in the US,
where he is based, whilst aligning his interests more closely
with those of the shareholders and providing him witha
strong incentive to remain with the Group. No further
awards of this nature are envisaged.
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* Onjoining EMIin October 2C01, Mr Levy was granted
options over 10m shares at exercise prices ranging
between 300p and 700p. The mid-market price of an EMI
share on the date of grant was 265.26p. He was also entitled
to subsequent grants of options, each over 2m shares,
following the announcement of the interim results for each
of the four financial years up to 31 March 2006. These levels
of grant reflect the fact that his base salary and potential
cash bonus are substantially lower than for equivalent
positions in other major record companies, and are
designed to align his interests closely with those of
shareholders.

On 19 December 2002, the remaining entitlements were
consolidated into a single grant. The terms of the grant
replicate those agreed on Mr Levy’s joining and, therefore,
the exercise prices will only be determined when the interim
results for the respective years have been announced,
using a five-day average share price. Similarly, the normal
three-year vesting period willonly commence on the date
that the exercise price is determined.

Exercise of all the options is generally conditional on the
Company’s adjusted diluted EPS growing by at least an
average of RPI plus 2.5% paover the period from 31 March
2002 to the 31 March following the relevant vesting date
witn retesting throughout the option’s life.

The Committee concluded that such grants were necessary
to recruit Mr Levy, bearing inmind the significant salary
sacrifice by himand, therefore, made such grants relying

on the exemption in chapter 13.13A of the UK Listing
Authority’s Listing Rules. The Committee will not make
amendments to the arrangements established for Mr Levy
that are to his advantage without seeking the consent

of shareholders. Consistent with the Company’s general
approach, no benefits under these option arrangements
forMr Levy will be pensionable.

Further details concerning these grants to Mr Bandier and

Mr Levy, including those as to vesting on termination of
employment or following a change of control of the Company,
are setoutin footnote (f) on page 52 and footnotes (f) and (g)
on page 53, respectively.

Details of the share options granted to Executive Directorsin
previous years in accordance with the scheme(s) then applying
and the performance criteria attaching to those grants are
contained in the table of Directors’ Share Options on pags 53.

Benefits in kind

Benefits and perquisites are based on general industry practice
and generally include a car or car allowance together with life
assurance, retirement, disability and healthcare plans. Further
detailsare set out on page 50.



Pension arrangements

* For UK-based Executive Directors, other than for the CFO
whose pension arrangements are summarised below, the
policy is to provide pension benefits through a *final salary’
arrangement with an accrual rate of T4oth. Where
possible, this is achieved through the Group's Inland
Revenue approved occupational pension scheme.
An unapproved scheme s utilised to provide benefits on
salaries above the Inland Revenue imposed ‘cap’, with the
level of contribution being set by reference to an actuarial
assessment of the value of a '5oth arrangement. Benefits
are based on base salaries only and specifically exclude
bonuses.

* Forthe US-based CEO Music Publishing, the Group's
retirement plan contributions are made with respectto both
salary and annual bonus, consistent with normal practice
inthe US and the Group’s benefit arrangements for all US
employees.

¢ Forthe mainly UK-based CFO, who is a US citizen,
retirement plan contributions are made in respect of his
base salary only.

Directors’ service contracts

The Combined Code recommends that one-year notice
periods or contract terms be set as an objective for Executive
Directors. Itis EMI's policy to achieve that objective, where
possible.

The Committee endorses the principle of mitigation of loss

on early termination of a service contract and recognises the
advantage of service contracts including an explicit calculation
of compensation payable upon early termination, other than
for misconduct or in other circumstances justifying summary
termination. The Committee’s policy is that such a calculation
should generally be based on base salary, annual bonus at
target level and other benefits, including pension contributions,
for the notice period or unexpirad term of the service contract.
The contract should also include an explicit obligation to
mitigate and to offset earnings from alternative employment
undertaken during the notice period or unexpired term of the
contract against all or part of the compensation payment.
However, the Committee is conscious that:

¢ EMIremains as the only independently owned and quoted
music major in the world and has been the subject of
takeover speculation for many years. To be able to
compete fortalent, it has, therefore, been necessary
toprovide an additional degree of protection for Executive
Directors in certain cases.

e Fixed-term contracts of three or more years are the norm
for senior executives in the global entertainment industry
and such agreements often include no (or only a limited)
obligation to mitigate.

* Employment contracts for music executives are often
closely negotiated, with the executive represented by
experienced industry attorneys.

Inthelight of such factors, the Committee considers that it is

in the best interests of EMI and its shareholders to retainthe
flexibility to compete for top executive talent, where necessary,
through the ability to offer contract terms in excess of one year.
However, the Committee recognises that this is not consistent
with UK remuneration best practices and, therefore, may agree
to concede compensation payments calculated, where
necessary, without mitigation in order to limit contract terms
ornotice periods to one year.

Chairman and CFO - Eric Nicoli and Roger Faxon

Mr Nicoli’s service contract, dated 11 April 2003, is terminable
by the Company on one year’s notice. Mr Faxon's contract,
dated as of 1 April 2003, allows EMI to terminate the contract

at any time without notice with a specified severance payment
calculated on the same basis as if he were entitled to one year's
notice. Previously, the effective notice period for both Mr Nicoli
and Mr Faxon would increase to two years following a change
of control. However, recognising the views of institutional
shareholders, they have agreed, for no compensation, to
reduce evenly over the course of the current financial year,

the notice period following a change of control, so that, as from
1 April 2004, they will both be subject tothe standard one year
in all circumstances.

In the case of gross misconduct or other circumstances
justifying summary dismissal, the Company may terminate
their service contracts without payment of compensation.
Termination by the Company in other circumstances, without
the required notice being given, entitles the departing
executive to lump-sum compensation, calculated on:

* histhen base annual salary (currently £680,000 pain the
case of MrNicoli and US$766,025 pain the case of Mr
Faxon); plus,

* the value of retirement benefits and either the continued
enjoyment of, or the value of, benefits in kind provided
to him (the accrued value of such retirement contributions
and the benefits in kind would have been £387,083 in the
case of MrNicoli and US$444,115 in the case of Mr Faxon
had they been dismissed on 31 March 2003); plus,

* asumin respect of his annual bonus opportunity, being the
amount egual to his target-level annual bonus opportunity
(currently 50%) multiplied by his base salary for the period
from:

* inthe case of Mr Nicoli, the date of his departure to the
end of the contractual notice period:

¢ inthe case of Mr Faxon, the commencement of the
financial year in which he departed to the end of the
contractual notice period.

Mr Nicoli’s entitlement to such compensation is subject to both
a duty to mitigate and offset for any earnings which he derives
from other employment during the unworked part of the notice
period for which he has been compensated.

In the light of competitive music industry practice, and in
recognition of Mr Faxon’s agreement, when he was promoted
to CFO, to reduce his basic contract term from two years to
one year, there is no obligation on him to mitigate or to offset
against the compensation payment any earnings from
alternative employment during the yearfollowing termination.
However, the Company’s obligation to continue to provide
insurance benzfits will cease to the extent that similar benefits
are provided by another employer following termination.
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CEQ Recorded Music - Alain Levy

Mr Levy's service contract, which commenced on 15 October
2001, allows the Company to terminate his employment

at any time without notice. If termination is for cause, no
compensation is payable. If termination is without cause,

or Mr Levy terminates the agreement for good reason (for
example, breach by EMI), he is entitled to a severance payment
calculated on the basis of one year's pay, as defined below.
However, this is increased to two years’ pay on termination
without cause following a change of control of the Company.

The Committee considers that this provision is appropriate

in view of Mr Levy's acceptance of a base salary and annual
cash bonus opportunity significantly lower than equivalent
positions in other major record companies and abasic
contract term of one year, which is also substantally less than
competitive music industry practice. The provision was an
important factorin Mr Levy agreeing to join the Company,
since his previous employment had been terminated following
achange of control of his employer, despite his successin
building that company into the world's largest music company.
In approving the provision, the Committee took into account
the fact that two years' compensation on termination without
cause following a change of control, would be materially less
than one year based on a typical music industry salary and
bonus package.

Where compensation is payable in respect of Mr Levy’s service
contract, it is specified to be alump sum calculated on:

* histhen base annual salary (currently £680,000 pa);
plus,

* the value of retirement benefits and either the value of,
or the continued enjoyment of, other benefits in kind
provided to him (the value of such retirement accrual
and the benefits in kind would have been £335,704 had
he been dismissed on 31 March 2003); plus,

* the average annual bonus earned by him over the last
three financial years (or the period since he joined the
Company, if less) (£340,000 in respect of the year ended
31 March 2003).

At the time of his appointment, Mr Levy accepted a basic
contract term of one year, which is significantly less than
competitive music industry practice, as well as abase salary
and potential cash bonus at levels substantially lower than
those for equivalent positions in other major record
companies. In recognition of this, there is no obligation on
Mr Levy to mitigate or to offset against the compensation
payment any earnings from alternative employment following
termination. It was considered inappropriate to seek to
renegotiate this aspect of Mr Levy’s contract following the
issue of the latest Association of British Insurers’ guidelines
inthis regard.

CEQ Music Publishing - Martin Bandier

Mr Bandier's service cantract, dated as of 1 April 2001, is with
a US subsidiary of EMI and is governed by New York state law.
The contract allows the employing company to terminate his
employment at any time without notice. If termination is for
cause, no compensation is payable. If terminaticn is without
cause, or Mr Bandier terminates the contract forgood reason,
heis entitled to compensation based on two years’ salary and
benefits. The Committee considers that these terms for Mr
Bandier are appropriate in view of competitive practice in the
US, where he is resident and where EMI Music Publishing

is headquartered, and the fact that the service contractis
intended to secure his services until age 65. Additionally,
following a change of control of the Company, Mr Bandier

is entitled to terminate his service contract after aone-year
transitional period and to receive a compensation payment
as described below. Mr Bandier's contract also provides for
its automatic expiry on 31 March 2006.
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Where compensation is payable in respect of termination of Mr
Bandier’s service contract, it is specified to be the aggregate of:

* histhen base annual salary (currently US$3,092,266) for
two years; plus,

* continuation for two years (or for one year if termination
occurs after 1 April 2005) of medical and dental benefits
and retirement plan contributions (the accrued value of
such retirement contributions and medical and dental
benefits for the year ended 31 March 2003 would have
been US$1,578,120if he had been terminated on
that date); plus,

* anamount equal to his target-level annual bonus
opportunity (currently 50% of base salary) for two years.

While, reflecting competitive music industry practice, there

is no specific obligation on Mr Bandier to mitigate, the
continuation of salary and bonus for 12 months after
terminationis subject to offset in respect of salary and bonus
earned by Mr Bandier from a subseguent employer in the 12
months following termination; and the continuation of benefits
is also offset to the extent of similar benefits provided by the
subsequent employer.

The provisions in Mr Levy’s service contract regarding change
of control and in Mr Bandier’s contract regarding two years’
compensation on termination have been discussed with both
the Association of British Insurers and the National Association
of Pension Funds.

Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors do not participate in EMI’s bonus
scheme or long-term incentive plans and are not eligible for
membership of any of the Group’s pension plans. Their fees
are payable wholly in cash.

The Non-executive Directors do not have service contracts
with the Company. Each Non-executive Director is appointed
for a specified term of an initial period to the next AGM aftar
appointment and, subject to election at that Meeting, fora
further period ending at the third AGM held thereafter.
Subsequent re-election is subject to endorsement by the
Board and the approval of shareholders. Each Non-executive
Director's date of appointment as a Director and his or her most
recent date of re-election at an AGM is shown below:

Dateof
appointment asa Date of
Non-executive last re-election
Diractor at AGM
Sir Dominic Cadbury 20.2.98 20.7.01
H Einsmann 18.5.92 19.7.02
P A Georgescu 1.9.02 -
D J Londoner 13.5.03 -
KA QO’Donovan 21.11.97 20.7.01

Their appointments may be terminated at any time without
compensation in the event that they are not re-elected by
shareholders or otherwise in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association. On termination, a Non-executive
Director is entitled to any accrued but unpaid Directors’ fees,
but not to any other compensation.



Total shareholder return performance graph

The naw Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002
require companies to include agraph indicating their TSR

(ie share price growth assuming reinvestment of any dividends)
performance over the last five years relative to a recognised
equity index. Inthe absence of a suitable index of true
comparators, the Committee has elected to show EMI's
performance related to the FTSE Mid-250 Index the
constituents of which comprise the comparator group for the
TSR performance condition to which awards under the ESIP
will be subject.

Total shareholder return
Source: Datastream

Value (£)

31.03.98 31.03.99 31.03.00 31.08.01 31.03.02 31.03.03

® EMIGroupple
B FT3E Mid-250 Index

This graph looks at the value, by the end of March 2003, of £100
invested in EMI Group plc on 31 March 1998 compared with the
value of £100 invested in the FTSE Mid-250 Index. The other
points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends.

Policy on outside appointments

The Executive Directors are permitted to take external
appointments as non-executive directors but usually only
one such appointment may be by another publicly quoted
company. They may retain the remuneration from such
appointments. All appointments must be approved by the
Board to ensure that they do not give rise to any scope for
conflicts of interest.

Share ownership guidelines

During the year, the Committee adopted a formal policy of
requiring Executive Directors to hold shares in EMI wortn at
least two times their respective salaries. Executive Directors
are required to build up this shareholding by retaining shares
with avalue of at least 25% of the after-tax gain arising on
the maturity of any long-term incentive awards.

Payments to former Directors during the financial year
During the year, amounts were paid to former Directors,
as follows:

KM Berry

In accordance with the terms of his service agreement,

Mr Berry was paid further amounts during the year in respect
of salary continuation, benefits and annual bonus. The value
of all these amounts was reported in the Directors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2002.

Notwithstanding the termination of his agreement, Mr Berry
had the right to continued use, for two years following the date
of termination of his employment, of the house in Los Angeles
provided to him rent-free by the Group. He also had the option
to purchase that property and its contents for the externally
appraised market value. He exercised this option on 31 July
2002, paying the Group US$6.0m which represented a profit
of US$2.015m (£1.4m) over the Group’s book value for the
property. As aresult, his right of use, the value of which was
reported in the financial year ended 31 March 2002, was
extinguished.

Mr Berry's remaining grants under the Group's share option
schemes lapsed, without being exercised, on 14 October 2002.

AJ Bates
Mr Bates ceased to be a Director on 4 February 2002 but
remained as an employee of the Group until 31 May 2002.

In accordance with the terms of his service agreement and

the subsequent letter of termination, Mr Bates was paid certain
sums during the financial year ended 31 March 2003 and
certain share awards vested. All of these sums were reported
in the financial year ended 31 March 2002, other than the salary
and benefits paid to Mr Bates between 1 April 2002 and

31 May 2002, which amounted to £133,221 in aggregate.

Of Mr Bates’s entitiements under the Group’s SEIR, a total
of 290,479 shares vested as at 31 May 2002. Up to a further
118,687 shares could vest on or before 30 June 2004, if the
related performance criteria are fulfilled. All of Mr Bates’s
remaining entittements under the Group’s share option
schemes will lapse on 31 May 2003.
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Remuneration details

Annual remuneration®
Base Compensation 2003 2002
salary for loss b Incentive Total Total
or fees of in year in year
£'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Executive Directors:
E L Nicoli 671.2 - - 67.2 340.0 1,078.4 685.5
M N Bandier® 1,934.3 - - 491 1,5474 3,530.8 3,726.6
AMJ I Levyd 680.0 - - 182.5 340.0 1,202.5 738.3
R C Faxon 495.2 - - 394 2476 782.2 103.4
Non-executive Directors:
Sir Dominic Cadbury 57.1 - - - - 571 53.1
H Einsmann 34.3 - - - - 34.3 324
P A Georgescu (appointed 1.9.02) 18.8 - - - - 18.8 -
K A O’'Donovan 39.5 - - - - 39.5 37.4
Former Executive Directors:
K M Berry (resigned 14.10.01) - 45.0° - - - 45.0 7,448.1
A J Bates (resigned 4.2.02) - - - - - - 22783
Former Non-executive Directors:
M R Jackson (resigned 7.5.02) 5.6 - - - e 5.6 324
H R Jenkins (retired 19.7.02) 10.4 - - - - 10.4 324
Total 2003 3,946.4 45.0 - 338.2 2,475.0 6,804.6 -
Total 2002 4,905.1 7,795.3 - 447.6 20179 - 15,165.9

2 Excludes retirement contributions (see table on page 54) and the value of share awards ceasing to be contingent, as reportedin the table shown below.

bThe nature of the non-cash benefits provided to the Executive Directors is as follows:

EL Nicoli:

M N Bandier:

AMJILevy:

RC Faxon:

© Highest-paid Director.

- provision of a Company car plus use of a Gompany pool car and driver,
- private healthcare; and,
- personal accident insurance.

- car allowance of US$36,000 pa; and,
- participation inthe Group’s US executive medical plan, life, heath (hospital, major medical and dental) and accident insurance.

- use of a Company pool car anddriver;
- private healthcare; and,
- personal accident insurance.

- car allowance of US$25,000 pa;
- participation in the Group's US executive medical plan, life, heath {hospital, major medical and dental) and accident insurance; and,
- health club memberships in both New York and London.

9Inaccordance with Mr Levy's service agreement, a payment of £138,232 was made to lichester Investments Ltd, a company controlled by Mr Levy and his family,
toreimburse the costs of its early surrender of the lease of its office premises following Mr Levy joining EMI.

2 This sum represents an assessment of Mr Berry's rent-free use of housing in California provided by the Group until its sale during July 2002.

Remuneration from prior-year share awards ceasing to be contingent

2003 2(.‘!]2a
Awards Total value’ Awards Total value
No.of shares £'000 Mo. of shares £'000

Executive Directors:

E L Nicoli

M N Bandier
AMJIILevy
R C Faxon

- -  21,667° 78.5
165,625° 147.8 87,500° 317.2

44,436 39.7 - -

Former Executive Directors:

K M Berry (resigned 14.10.01) -

229,912 784.6

A J Bates (resigned 4.2.02) - - 75,344 273.1

Total

210,061 187.5 414,423 1,453.4

AThe value is based on the share price on the date that awards ceased to be contingent,

bWhilst in certain circumstances these restricted share awards may lapse or be released before the vesting date, a proportion of their value is included in reported
remuneration each year to match remuneration costs more accurately to the time period in which these shares are earned.
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Directors’ interests

Directors’ interests (all beneficial) in the Company’s Ordinary Shares of 14p each™

Asat1.4.02
ordate of
appointment
Non-contingent Directly held Asat31.3.03 if later
share awards® shares Total shares held Total shares held
Executive Directors:

E L Nicoli® 133,982 69,186 203,168 138,032
M N Bandier - 379,760 379,760 155,060
AMJILevy - 775,000 775,000 700,000
R C Faxon 296,182 36,473° 332,655 220,027

Non-executive Directors:
Sir Dominic Cadbury - 50,000 50,000 20,000
H Einsmann - 1,800 1,800 1,800
P A Georgescu - 100,000 100,000 -
K A O'Donovan - 2,000 2,000 2,000

aThe Company's Register of Directors’ Interests is available for inspection in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985,

©No Director had any interest in either shares or debentures of any subsidiary of the Company.

¢ Non-cantingent share awards shown in this column are also included as incentive awards in the table cn page 52.

d0n 23 May 2003, Mr Nicoli'sinterests in the Company’s shares increased by 64 shares on the reinvestment of dividends and tax credits received in respect of shares
held by him and his wife through EMI Corporate Personal Equity Plans.

©The total of directly held shares does not include the post-tax amount of an incentive share award of 19,518 shares and the related 2:3 matching award of 13,012
shares that vested during the year, as the shares could not be delivered to Mr Faxon until after the end of the close period for Directors’ share dealings on 21 May 2003.
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Outstanding awards under long-term incentive plans

Asat1.4.02 During year
Date of Ca b e Matching Asat
award Incentive Perormance Restricted Awarded awards Vested Lapsed 31.3.03
Executive Directors:
E L Nicoli 31.5.00 67,722 - - - - - - 67,722
22.6.00 - 124,538 - - - - (124,538 0
31.5.01 66,260 - - - - - - 66,260
15.6.01 - 165,297 - - - - - 155,297
Total 133,982 279,835 0 0 0 0 (124,538) 289,279
M N Bandier 23.8.96 - 108,214 - - - - (108,214) 0
6.6.97 - 110,974 - - - - - 110,974
28.9.01 - 1,250,000 - - - - - 1,250,000
28.9.01 - - 662,500 - - - - 662,500
Total 0 1,469,188 662,500 0 0 0 (108,214)2,023,474
AMJILevy - - - - - - - 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
RCFaxon 23.8.96 - 24,594 - - - - (24,594)° 0
6.6.97 19,518 - - - 13,012°  (32,530) - 0
6.6.97 - 19,518 - - - - - 19,518
18.6.99 88,848 - - - - - - 88,848
31.5.00 18,888 - - - - - - 18,888
22.6.00 - 74,374 - - - (44,436) (29,938)° 0
31.5.01 56,300 - - - - - - 56,300
15.6.01 - 103,803 - - - - - 103,803
28.5.02 - - - 112,628° - - - 112,628
Total 183,664 222,289 0 112,628 13,012 (76,966) (54,532) 399,985

2Incentive share awards are not contingent on future performance and/or are no longer subject to forfeiture. Such awards, made under the current Senior Executive
Incentive Plan, are subject to an additional 1:3 matching award if deferred for three years from the date of the award or an addtional 2:3 matching award if deferred
for six years from the date of the award.

b Shows total potential award. The total of the eventual award depends on the achievernent of Group or business unit performance against profit targets set by the
Remuneration Commitiee by the end of a performance period that terminates on 31 March inthe third year after the date of the award. For awards made prior fo 1988,
performance is further reassessed in each of the following thee years before the award lapses. The eventual award is subject to an additional 1:3 matching award if
vesting is deferred for a further three years from the vesting date. In certain circumstances, for example upon a change of control of EMI, awards could be released
before the normal vesting date. For Mr Niceli, Mr Bandier and Mr Faxon, release of awards made up to 31 March 2001 is subject to a further performance requirement
that EMI's Total Shareholder Return must have at least equalled the median of those compan es that comprised the FTSE 100 at the start of the three-year
performance cycle. Mr Nicol has a performance share award granted on 15 June 2001 whick will vest on a sliding scale against three-year compound growthin
earnings of between 6.1% and 22.5%. Mr Faxon continues to participate in a performance share award granted on 15 June 2001 based on Music Publishing's
performance, which requires the same rates of compound growth but related to Music Publishing’s economic profit.

€ Mr Bandier's restricted share award is not subject to performance criteria. A proportion of this award is included in remuneration each year soastomatch
remuneration costs more acourately to the time period in which the shares are earned. In certain circumstances, the award could lapse or be released before the
vesting date, as described in footnote (f) below.

dLapsed as of 31 March 2003
© Onvesting of the base award, a 2:3 matching award of 13,012 shares was made.

T MrBandiers outstanding share awards, which are set out in fhe table above, would vest, in whole or in part, if he was dismissed (other than for cause) or following
a change of control of EMI. Both his performance share and restricted share awards will lapse if, prior to the vesting date of 31 March 2006, Mr Bandier resigns
voluntarily or his employment agreement is terminated by EMI for cause. However, if Mr Bandier's employment is terminated without cause by EMI, he will receive the
proportion of his restricted share award which he would have earned had he remained in employment for a further two years. Under these same circumstances, he
would alsoreceive a proporiion of his performance share awards pro rated to the date of termination, subject to the achievement of the relevant performance criteria.
Inthe event of a change of control of EMI, all the restricted share award would vest together with a proportion of the performance share award pro rated to the date of
the change of control. Following a change of control, a pro rata proportion of his performance share award would vest together with an additional 625,000 shares up
to the maximum award of 1.25m shares on the earlier of one year after the date of the change of control or the termination of his employment without cause.

9 Mr Faxon received an incentive award of 112,628 shares on 28 May 2002 when the closing mid-market share price was 267.25p.



Directors’ share options over Crdinary Shares of 14p each®

Earfiest

Asat1.4.02

nomal ordatect
Date exercise Lapse Exarcise i Exercised Granted Lapsed
granted date® date® price if latter inyear inyear inyear Asat31.3.03
Executive Directors:
E L Nicoli 3.6.99 3.6.02 5.6.09 440.000p 60,000 - - - 60,000
21.12.00 1.2.069 31.7.06 442.000p 3,817 - - (3,817 0
20.€.02 1.9.07¢ 29.2.08 221.000p - - 7,488 - 7,488
21.6.02 21.6.06 20.6.12 243.300p - - 838,471 - 838,471
Total 63,817 - 845,959 (3,817) 905,959
MN Bandier 25.695 25.8.98 24.8.056 590.315p 253,084 - - - 253,084
23.696 23.8.89 22.8.06 734.500p 60,000 - N - 60,000
6.6.97 6.6.00 5.6.07 575.000p 52,144 - - - 52,144
Total 365,228 - - - 365,228
AMJILevy? 15.10.01 15.10.04 14.10.11 300.000p 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
151001 15.10.04 14.10.11 400.000p 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
15.10.01 15.10.04 14.10.11 500.000p 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
15.10.01 15.10.04 14.10.11 700.000p 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
2.1.02 2.1.05 1.1.12 357.300p 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
19.12.02 19.12.06 18.12.12 146.050p - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
19.12.02f 19.12.06 18.12.12f - - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
19.12.02* 19.12.07 18.12.12¢ - - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
19.12.02t 19.12.08 18.12.12f - - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
Total 12,000,000 - 8,000,000 - 20,000,000
R C Faxon 23.896 23.8.89 22806 734.500p 67,500 - - - 67,500
6.6.97 6.6.00 5.6.07 575.000p 50,326 - - - 50,326
5.2.02 5.2.05 4.212 305.000p 500,000 - - - 500,000
28.5.02 28.5.056 27.5.12 267.250p - - 250,000 - 250,000
21.6.02 21.6.05 20.6.12 244.000p - - 283,000 - 283,000
Total 617,826 - 533,000 - 1,150,826

4 No Directors’ share options were exercised in the year. Therefore, the total gain made on the exercise of share options was €nil (2002:£nil). The closing mid-market share
price on31March 2003 was 89.25p. The range of closing mid-market share prices during the year was 800 to 365p.

b All of the options were granted for nil consideration.

¢ Executive Directors’ share options are normally exercisable during the period commencing no earlier than three years and ending no later than 10 years from the date
granted.

d ShareSave options are nommally exercisable for a six-month period following completion of savings to eiter a three-year or a five-year ShareSave contract.

@ Shareoptions were granted to Executive Directors in previous years in accordance with the relevant Executive Share Option Scheme rulesand market practice atthe
time. The table above sets out informaton on the current Executive Directors’ grants of share options. The performance criteria relating to these grants are as follows:

* Forthe period from 25 August 1995to 9 December 1899, the criterion was that the Company’s Total Shareholder Return ( TSR') over therelevant calculation period
compared to the TSR of the companies inthe FTSE 100 at 1 April pricr to the date of grant is at least equal to the median of that group. TSR is the percentage growth
of the share price, assuming reinvestment of any dividends paid, over the calculation period. The initial calculation period commences on 1 Aprilimmediately
preceding the date of grant and ends on 31March three years later and, thereafter, calculations are made at each quarter end for the preceding three-year period until
the performance criterion is met or the option lapses.

¢ Farthe period 10 December 1999 to date, the criterion is that the increase in the Group's adjusted, fully diluted eamings per share over athree-year period following
the date of grant exceeds an average of the UK Retail Prices Index plusa rate ranging between 2% and 3% pa.

The Committee chose the relevant perfarmance criteria as they were considered to be challenging, to align Executive Directors' interests with those of shareholders and
inaccordance with the then existing market practice. On termination of employment in certain circumstances, for example, as a result of death, disability, sale of the
relevant business unit, normal retirement, or termination without cause, and if the performance criteria areon target for achievernent, a proportion of the option may
become exercisable prior to normal vesting. If the performance criteria are not on target for achievernent, the whole option lapses if it has notreached its normal vesting
date. Upon a change of control, all options vest, or can be exchanged for an equivalent value of options in the acquiring entity, with identica terms to the original options,
Similar provisions also apply to awardsmade under the SEIP. Details of how these provisions have been applied inindividual cases and how the one-off arrangements
for MrBandier and Mr Levy apply on termination of their employment in these circumstances are set out in footnote (f) on page 52 and in footnote (g) below, respectively.

f On appointment, Mr Levy was granted options over 10m shares at prices between 300p and 700p.Since appointment, Mr Levy has been granted aciditional options over
afurther 10m shares which represent his entittement to options in respect of the five financial years up to and including, but ending on, 31 March 2006. The exercise
prices for these options will only be determined when the interim results for the respective financial years have been announced, using a five-day average share price.

AThe terms of Mr Levy's contract prescrise the impact of a cessation of employment or a change of control of EMI on the share options granted under his contract. If
MrLevy's appointment is terminated by EMI without cause or by Mr Levy with good reason {as defined in the contract) prior to 15 October 2003, the options over Bm
shares priced from 300p to 500p will vest and may be exercised without regard to the performance conditions but all other such options wil lapse. Should Mr Levy's
appointment be terminated in such circumstances after 15 October 2003, the options over all 10m shares will vest and may be exerciced wthout regard to the
performance conditions.

If Mr Levy’s appointment is terminated in the circumstances described in the preceding paragraph, the options referred to in footnote (f) for which the prices have been
determined by the date of termination, as set out inthe table above, will vastand may be exercised without regard to the performance conditions; all other options would
lapse.The exercise of options vested under the preceding paragraph must be undertaken within 12 months of the date of termination. On achange of control of EMI,

Mr Levy’s options will be treated as if his employment had been terminated by EMI without cause with the result that they may be exercised without regard to performance
conditions, but the exercise period will be limited to six months. A termination resulting from Mr Levy’s dezth or disability will be treated in the same manneras a
termiration by the Company without cause.
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Remuneration Report

continued

Pensions

The UK-based Executive Directors are executivemembers

of the UK EMI Group Pension Fund, which provides them,

on normal retirement atage 60, with a pension of soth of the
‘cap’ (see below) for each year of membership. Members
contribute 4% of the cap. On death there is a spouse’s pension
of two thirds of the member’s pension (ignoring the impact of
any exchange of pension for alump sum on retirement), plus
child allowances if applicable. An early retirement pension may
be paid on leaving but the pension is reduced by /2% for each
month that pension starts earlier than age 60. Subject to the
Company’s (the Committee’s in the case of Executive Directors)
consent, the reduction applied may be less.

Transfer values are calculated on a basis that assumes the
pension would be drawn at the earliest date where no reduction
would apply and with allowance for future pension increases
(both before and after pansion commences) to reflect the past
practice of granting increases greater than those guaranteed.

Upto age 65, the whele of a pension in payment is guaranteed
toincrease by LPI (the lower of the previous year'sincrease in
the Retail Prices Index and 5%). After age 65, the pensionin
excess of the Guaranteed Minimum Pension or ‘GMP’ (that part
of the pension which replaces the State Earnings Related
Pension) is guaranteed to increase by LPI, while that part of the
GMP which built up since 6 April 1988 is guaranteed to increase
by the lower of the previous year's increase in the Retail Prices
Index and 3%.

The table below sets out the transfer value at 31 March 2003 of
each Executive Director’s accrued deferred pension at that date
as well as the movement in that ransfer value over the period.
The transfer values are liabilities of the EMI Group Pension Fund
and reflect both the age of the Executive Director and his length
of service and membership of the fund.

Increase in Increase in
accured Directors’ tranfer value
P pension during g contributions over the year
Ageat Accrued pension theyear natof Transfer value of accrued pension during  netof Directors’
31.3.03 at31.3.03 at.4.02 infiation at31.3.03 at1.4.0¢ the year contributions
Years fpa fpa fpa £ fpa
Executive Directors:
E L Nicoli 52 6,345 4,637 1,629 78,192 66,703 3,888 7,601
AMJilewy 86 2205 663 1621 38238 11,044 3888 23306

AThe accrued pensions are the amounts which would be paidif the Director left service at the relevant date.

bThe transfer values have been calculated in accordance with guidance note GN11 published by the Institute of Actuaries and Faculty of Actuaries.

Forthose joining the EMI Group Pension Fund afier 31 May
1989, the ‘cap’ (as defined in the Finance Act 1989) limits
salary for pension purposes to £99,000 from 6 April 2003
(2002: £97,200). The Company, therefore, makes contributions
to a separate defined contribution plan that provides additional
benefits to those affected by the cap. Executive Directors

Contributions in the year to 31 March 2003

affected by the cap and the after-tax value of contributions,
expressed as a percentage of base salary in excess of the cap,
which the Company paid to the defined contribution plan

in respect of them, were:

E LNicoli
AMJILevy

33.42%
30.00%

FURBE?  Tax compensation Total
£ £ £

Executive Directors:
E L Nicoli 192,000 128,000 320,000
AMJILevy 176,380 116,920 292,300

aFunded unapproved retirement benefits scheme

These contributions are set at levels which, based on actuarial
advice, are likely to deliver comparable benefits to the capped
final salary element.

Contributions by Group
% uss

The table below sets out the contributions made to US money
purchase pension arrangements in respect of the other two
Execulive Directors.

Contributions by Director Total
% uss

Uss
Executive Directors:
M N Bandier 33.4%of pay® 1,782,934 6% of pay” 320,287 2,103,221
R CFaxon 50% of base salary 383,013 14% of base salary 107,243 490,256

4 Consistent with US practice, pay for this purpose includes the value of annual cash bonuses.

There were no retiremen: benefits paid to former Directors in
excess of those to which they became entitled when such benefits
first became payable to such former Directors.

Compensation to former Directors not previously reported
There were no compensation payments made to former Directors
that have not been previously reported.

Payments to third parties for making the Directors’
services available

No payments have been made to third parties for making any
Directors’ services available to the Company.
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As required by the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations,
only those items on pages 50 to 54 inclusive have been subject to
audit.

By Order of the Board
Sir Dominic Cadbury

Deputy Chairman
16 May 2003
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Auditor’s Report

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members

of EMI Group plc

We have audited the Group’s financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2003 which comprise the
Consolidated Profit and Loss Account, Consolidated Balance
Sheet, Company Balance Sheet, Consolidated Cash Flow
Statement, Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses,
Reconciliation of Movements in Shareholders’ Funds and the
related notes 1 to 34. These financial statements have baen
prepared on the basis of the accounting policies set out
therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’
Remuneration Report that is described as having

been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act
1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Company and the Company’s members as a body,

for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions

we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors

and Auditor

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
including the financial statements which are required to be
prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law
and accounting standards as set out in the Statement o
Directors’ Responsibilities in relation to the financial
statements.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the
part cf the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements,
United Kingdom Auditing Standards and the Listing Rules of
the Financial Services Authority.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report

to youif, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent
with the financial statements, if the Company has not kept
proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, orif
information specified by law or the Listing Rules regarding
Directors’ remuneration and transactions with the Group is
not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the Company’s compliance with the seven provisions
of the Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing
Rules, and we report if it does not. We are not required to
consider whether the Board's statements on internal control
cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. This other information comprises the Directors’
Report, unaucited part of the Directors’' Remuneration Report,
Chairman’s Statement, Operating Reviews, Financial Review
and Corporate Governance Statement. We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other
information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom
Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors
in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain

all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or other irregularity or error. In forming cur opinion we also
evaluated the overall adeguacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as

at 31 March 2003 and of the profit of the Group for the year
then ended; and the financial statements and the part of

the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have

been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
London

19 May 2003
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
forthe yearended 31 March 2003

Total Joint venture
HMV Group plc
Discontinued
MNotes £m £m
Turnover:
Total (including joint venture) 2,240.9 65.5
Less: joint venture tumover (65.5) (65.5)
Group turnover 1 21754 -
Cost of sales 2 (1,376.7) -
Gross profit 798.7 -
Distribution costs 2 (98.7) -
Administration expenses 2 (544.7) -
Other operating income, net 2 314 -
Group operating profit (oss) 183 186.4 -
Share of operating profit in joint venture before exceptional items 0.4 0.4
Share of operating exceptional items in joint venture - -
Share of operating profit in joint venture 0.4 0.4
Share of operating profits (losses) in associated undertakings 0.1 -
Total operating profit (loss) 186.9 0.4
Non-operating exceptional items 9 209.7 -
Profit (loss) before finance charges 396.6 0.4
Finance charges:

Group (including associated undertakings) (76.1) -
Joint venture before exceptional items (1.2) (1.2)
Joint venture—excaptional items - -

Joint venture (1.2) (1.2)

Total finance charges 6 (77.3) (1.2)
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 319.3 (0.8)
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 7 (83.2) 0.3

Profit (loss) on ordinary activities after taxation 236.1 (0.5)
Minority interests (equity) (6.4) -

Profit (loss) attributable to members of the Holding Company 229.7 (0.5)
Dividends (equity) 8 (62.8)

Transfer to (from) profit and loss reserve 166.9
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Year ended 31 March 2003

Year ended 31 March 2002

EMI Group (excluding HMV Group ple) EMIGroup (excluding HMV Group plc) Joint venture Total
Before HMV Group ple
Exceptional exceptional Before
items (Note S)and items and exceptional Exceptional
amortisation amortisation items and iterns (NoteS)and
Continuing ‘Continuing amortisation amortisation
£m £m £m £m £m £m
- 2,175.4 2,445.8 707.9 3,163.7
- = = - (707.9) (707.9)
- 2,175.4 2,445.8 - - 2,445.8
(45.5) (1,331.2) (1,592.7) (133.8) - (1.726.5)
(45.5) 844.2 8531 (133.8) - 719.3
- (98.7) (119.9) (7.6) - (127.5)
(15.8) (528.9) (577.4) (1315) - (708.9)
(6.3) 37.4 3541 (19.0) - 16.1
(67.6) 254.0 190.9 (291.9) - (101.0)
446 446
(10.3) (10.3)
e - - - 34.3 34.3
(0.1) 0.2 (1) (1.8) - 2.9
(67.7) 254.2 189.8 (293.7) 34.3 (69.6)
209.7 - - - - -
142.0 254.2 189.8 (293.7) 34.3 (69.6)
- (76.1) (60.4) - - (60.4)
(20.7) (20.7)
2.1) (21)
- - - - (22.8) (22.8)
- (76.1) (60.4) - (22.8) (83.2)
142.0 1781 129.4 (293.7) 115 (152.8)
(38.4) (45.1) (38.6) 7.8 7.4) (38.2)
103.6 133.0 90.8 (285.9) 41 (191.0)
3.9 (10.3) (152) 6.7 - 8.5)
107.5 122.7 75.6 (279.2) 4. (199.5)
(62.2)

261.7)
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Balance Sheets
at 31 March 2003

Group Company
2003 2002 2008 2002
Motes £m £m £m £m
Fixed assets
Music copyrights 11 451.2 518.2 - -
Goodwill 12 56.2 34.0 - -
Tangible fixed assets 13 289.4 277.3 25.6 13.6
Investments: subsidiary undertakings 14 - - 2,527 2,386.7
Investments: joint venture (HMV Group plc) 14 - - - 96.5
Investments: associated undertakings 14 6.7 71 0.6 0.6
Other fixed asset invesiments 14 15.5 224 0.2 0.2
Investments: own shares 15 7.3 131 7.3 13.1
826.3 8721 2486.4 2510.7
Current assets
Stocks 16 36.4 43.0 - -
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 17 816.7 763.7 2141.0 1176.1
Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year 17 138.6 133.8 1.5 0.6
Deferred taxation 23 14.6 171 - -
Investments: liquid funds 18 0.5 0.7 - -
Cash at bank and in hand and cash deposits 18 100.2 85.7 0.6 6.5
1,107.0 10440 2,434 1183.2
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings 18 (38.5) (771.0) - -
Other creditors 21 (1,365.0) (1297.1) (124.4) (78.2)
(1,403.5) (2,068.1) (124.4) (78.2)
Net current (liabilities) a t (296.5) (1.024.1) 2,018.7 1105.0
Total assets less current liabilities 529.8 (152.0) 4,205.1 3,615.7
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings 1 (922.0) 373.3) (322.8) -
Other creditors 22 (58.1) 27.4) (741.2) (597.0)
(980.1) 400.7) (1,064.0) (597.0)
Provisions for liabilities and charges
Deferred taxation 23 (5.5) (3.4) - -
Other provisions 24 (104.4) 173.1) (6.6) (10.4)
Investments: joint venture (HMV Group plc) 14
Share of gross assets - 203.3 - -
Share of gross liabilities - (363.2) - -
- 159.9) - -
(109.9) 1336.4) (6.6) (10.4)
(560.2) 889.1) 3,134.5 3,008.3
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 25 110.4 110.4 110.4 110.4
Share premium account 25 445.8 4458 445.8 445.8
Capital redemption resarve 26 495.8 495.8 495.8 495.8
Other reserves 26 256.0 256.0 435.6 436.4
Profit and loss reserve (including goodwill previcusly written off) % (2,001.1) (2338.2) 1,646.9 1,519.9
Equity shareholders’ funds (693.1) (1030.2) 3,134.5 3,008.3
Minority interests (equity) 27 132.9 141.1 - -
(560.2) 889.1) 3,134.5 3,008.3

Eric Nicoli
Roger Faxon
Directors

19 May 2003
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Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses
forthe year ended 31 March 2003

2003 2002
£m Em £m £m
Profit (loss) for the financial year
Group 230.1 (202.0)
Joint venture (0.5) 4.1
Associated undertakings 0.1 (1.6)
Profit (loss) for the financial year 229.7 (199.5)
Currency translation - Group’ (13.5) 6.5)
Currency translation — joint venture and associated undertakings - 0.5
Otherrecognised losses (13.5) (6.0)
Total recognised gains and losses relating to the year 216.2 (205.5)

" Net cumency gains of £7.6m (2002: £1.5m), which relate to foreign currency borrowings to finance investment overseas, and the related tax charge of £nil (2002: £nil), have been included
within the Group currency transiation movement on reserves,

Reconciliation of Movements in Shareholders’ Funds
for the year ended 31 March 2003

2003 2002
£m Em £m £m

Opening shareholders’ funds (1,030.2) (776.2)

Profit(loss) for the financial year 229.7 (199.5)

Dividends (equity) (62.8) (62.2)

Other recognised losses (13.5) (6.0)

Goodwill adjustments 183.7 9.9

Share of joint venture reserves adjustment - 3.6

Shares issued - 0.2

Net increase (decrease) in shareholders’ funds for the year 337.1 (254.0)

Closing shareholders’ funds (693.1) (1,030.2)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2003

2003 2002
Notes £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 117.2 211.9
Dividends received from associated undertakings 14 0.1 0.7
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 8.3 10.3
Interest paid ey (12.8) (68.8)
Interest element of finance lease payments (0.1) 0.2)
Dividends paid to minorities (6.5) (3.3)
Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance (11.1) (62.0)
Tax paid (38.7) (22.3)
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of music copyrights 11 (7.6) (10.6)
Sale of music copyrights 1.2 -
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 13 (68.5) (39.2)
Sale of tangible fixed assets 9.3 10.1
Purchase of investments: own shares 15 (0.8) (1.9
Purchase of fixed asset investments 14 (10.4) -
Sale of fixed asset investments 35.6 0.1
Purchase of associated undertakings 14 (1.8) (3.6)
Loans repaid by associated undertakings 14 0.7 0.8
Disposal of associated undertakings 2.2 1.9
Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investment (40.1) (42.4)
Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of businesses net of cash acquired 3 (22.4) (22.6)
Disposal of holding in HMV Group 31 209.5 -
Deferred consideration paid (1.0) (1.4)
Disposal of subsidiary undertaking 31 (0.7) -
Net cash inflow (outflow) from acquisitions and disposals 185.4 (24.0)
Equity dividends paid (29.4) (125.3)
Net cash inflow (outflow) before management of liquid resources and financing 183.4 (63.4)
Issue of Ordinary Share capital - 0.2
Management of liquid resources 20 1.1 5.1
Financing:

New loans 20 603.5 460.3

Loans repaid 20 (757.5) (458.6)

Capital element of finance leases repaid 20 (0.9) (1.1)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from management of liquid resources and financing (153.8) 5.9
Increase (decrease) in cash 20 29.6 (57.5)




Reconciliation of Group operating profit (loss) to net cash inflow from operating activities

2003 2002
Motes £m £rm
Group operating profit (loss) 186.4 (101.0)
Depreciation charge 13 43.0 51.0
Amortisation charge:
Music copyrights 1 39.0 435
Goodwill 12 3.7 6.0
Fixed asset write-down - 1.1
Goodwill write-down — subsidiaries 12 12.1 29.3
Goodwill write-down — associated undertakings 14 - 8.5
Music copyrights write-down 1 6.5 -
Current asset investment write-down 2.5 -
Investments: own shares write-down 15 38 -
Associated undertaking write-down 14 - 7.0
Amounts provided 24 9.7 107.2
Provisions utilised:
Disposals and fundamental reorganisations 24 (1.6) (12.5)
Other 24 (83.7) (16.9)
(Increase) decrease in working capital:
Stock 24 26
Debtors (94.8) 63.9
Creditors (11.8) 222
Net cash inflow from operating activities 117.2 211.9



Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the
historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable
accounting standards. The results for the years ended 31
March 2003 and 31 March 2002 represent continuing
operations except the joint venture (HMV Group plc).

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. The results

of all subsidiaries are taken from their accounts made up to
31 March. The results cf subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associated undertakings disposed of or acquired during the
year are included up to. or from, the date that control passes.

Changes in financial reporting standards
Transitional arrangements for FRS17- Retirement Benefits
continue to be adopted by the Group (see Note 30).

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded
at the rates of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated into sterling either at year-end rates
or, where there are related forward foreign exchange contracts,
at contract rates. The resulting exchange differences are dealt
with in the determinaticn of profit for the financial year.

On consolidation, average exchange rates have been used to
translate the results of overseas subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associated undertakings. The assets and liabilities of overseas
subsidiaries and associated undertakings are translated into
sterling at year-end rates.

Exchange differences arising from the retranslation

at year-end exchange rates of:

() the opening net investment in overseas subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associated undertakings and foreign
currency borrowings in so far as they are matched by
those overseas investments; and

(i) the results of overseas subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associated undertakings,

are dealt with in Group reserves.

Turnover

Turnover represents the invoiced value or contracted
amount of goods and services supplied by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Turnover excludes value added tax
and similar sales-related taxes.
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Pension costs

Pension costs, which are determined in accordance with
SSAP24 - Accounting for pension costs, are charged to the
profit and loss account so as to spread the cost of pensions
over the working lives of the employees within the Group.
Valuation surpluses or deficits are amortised over the expected
remaining working life within the Group of the relevant
employees (estimated to be eight years in respect of the UK).
The amortisation of valuation surpluses is restricted to an
amount equal to the regular pension cost. Accordingly,
employer expense in respect of the main scheme, which
covers employees in the UK, has been taken as Enil for
each of the two years ended 31 March 2003 for reasons of
conservatism.

Joint ventures and associated undertakings

Where the Group has an investment in an entity which is
sufficient to give the Group a participating interest, and over
which itis in a position to exercise significant influence, the
entity is treated as an associated undertaking and is accounted
for using the equity method. Entities in which the Group holds
aninterest on a long-term basis and which are jointly controlled
by the Group and one or more other parties under a
contractual arrangement, are treated as joint ventures and

are accounted for using the gross equity method.

The results of joint ventures and associated undertakings

are taken from their accounts made up to 31 March or such
earlier date (not prior to 31 December) which represents their
financial period end, as adjusted for material items that have
occurred in the intervening period.

Goodwill and other intangibles

Goodwill and catalogue intangibles arising on acquisitions
made &fter 31 March 1998 are capitalised and amortised over
their expected useful life, principally restricted to 20 years,

in accordance with FRS10 - Goodwill and intangible assets.
They are reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full
financial year following acquisition and in other periods if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions made before 31 March 1998
has been charged directly against shareholders’ funds in the
year of acquisition and is included within the profit and loss
reserve, yet separately identified within the reserves note.

This goodwill will remain in reserves until, on the disposal or
closure of any business, the profit and loss account includes

a charge in respect of the goodwill previously written off
against shareholders’ funds on the acquisition of the business.



Music copyrights

Music copyrights purchased prior to 1 April 1989 were
written off against shareholders’ funds on acquisition.
Copyrights acquired as a result of acquisitions on or after

1 April 1989 are capitalised as intangible assets in the Group
balance sheet, and are amortised by equal annual amounts
over not more than 20 years, other than in exceptional
circumstances when sufficient ongoing impairment tests can
be performed to support a useful economic life of over 20
years. Where a useful economic life of up to 20 years has been
adopted, copyrights are reviewed forimpairment at the end
of thefirst full financial year following acquisition and in other
periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Advances to artists

Advances to artists and repertoire owners are assessed and
the value of the unrecouped portion to be included in debtors
is determined by the prospects of future recoupment, based
on past sales performance, current popularity and

projected sales.

Leased assets

Assets held under finance leases are included as tangible fixed
assets at their estimated purchase cost and depreciated over
their expected useful lives, or cver the primary lease period,
whichever is shorter. The obligations relating to finance leases
(net of finance charges allocated to future periods)are included
under borrowings due within or after one year, as appropriate.
Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss
account on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is calculated on cost at
rates estimated to write off the cost, less the estimated rasidual
value of the relevant assets, by equal annual amounts over their
expected useful lives; effect is given, where necessary, to
commercial and technical obsolescence.

The annual rates used are:
Freehold buildings and long-term

leasehold property 2%
Short-term leasehold property Period of lease
Plant, equipment and vehicles 10-33"3%

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for
impairment in periods if events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Stocks

Stocks and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value, less progress payments on uncompleted
contracts and provisions for expected losses. Cost includes
manufacturing overheads where appropriate.

Taxation

The Company has undertaken to discharge the liability
to corporation tax of the majority of its wholly owned UK
subsidiaries. Their UK tax liabilities are therefore dealt
with in the accounts of the Company.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences
that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date,
where transactions or events have occurred at that date that
will result in an obligation to pay more tax, or right to pay less,
or to receive more, tax, with the following exceptions:

- Provision is made for tax on gains arising from the
revaluation (and similar fair value adjustments)of fixed
assets, or gains on disposal of fixed assets, only to the extent
that, at the balance sheet date, there is a binding agreement
to dispose of the assets concerned. However, no provision
is made where, on the basis of all available evidence at the
balance sheet date, it is morelikely than not that thetaxable
gain will be rolled over into replacement assets.

— Provision is made for gains which have been rolled over into
replacement assets only to the extent that, at the balance
sheet date, there is acommitment to dispose of the
replacement assets.

- Provision is made for deferred tax that would arise on
remittance of the retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures only to the extent that, at the
balance sheet date, dividends have besen accrued as
receivable.

— Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that the Directors consider that it is more likely than
not that there will be suitable taxable profits fromwhich
the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing
differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Financial instruments

Any premium or discount associated with the purchase

of interest rate instruments is amortised over the life

of the transaction. Interest receipts and payments are accrued
to match the net income or cost with the related finance
expense. No amounts are recognised in respect of future
periods.

If a swap is unwound early, the gain or loss is spread over the
remaining life of the original instrument.

New media holdings

Holdings in new media companies that ariseas a
consequence of licensing, distribution and other similar deals
with such companies, are carried at cost less provision for
diminution in value. The carrying value at 31 March 2003 was
£6.4m (2002: £5.6m). Income from thesz holdings, net of
costs, is only recognised when received as cash and is treated
as otheroperating income. The costs relating to these
investments are held within debtors untl they are recognised
with the related income.



Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2003

1.Segmental analyses

2003 2002
Opemﬂng Oparaﬂng Average Operau'ng Operat'rng Average
Turnover profit assets employees Turnover profit asgets employees
£m £m No. m £m £m Mo,
By class of business:
Recorded Music 1,774.2 150.5 180.6 7,439 2,0294 83.1 44.4 8,644
Music Publishing 401.2 103.5 409.2 649 416.4 107.8 453.9 626
HMV Group plc - discontinued n/a n/a - n/a n/a n/a (162.9) n/a
Group’ 2,175.4 254.0 589.8 8,088 24458 190.9 335.4 9,270
Operating exceptional items
and amortisation® (67.6) (291.9)
Group operating profit (loss) 186.4 (101.0)
By origin:
United Kingdom 330.9 69.1 76.8 1,162 338.9 59.4 (113.1) 1423
Rest of Europe 660.5 88.6 6.5 2,510 732.0 98.7 (13.1) 2,765
Latin America 51.0 (2.5) 7.4 324 88.1 (2.8) 3.1 422
North America 706.1 68.3 376.9 2,573 826.3 (2.1) 333.7 2,923
Asia Pacific 409.9 27.6 116.2 1,382 439.8 33.6 118.6 1,522
Other 17.0 2.9 6.0 137 20.7 4.1 6.2 215
Group’ 2,175.4 254.0 589.8 8,088 2,445.8 190.9 335.4 9,270
By destination:
United Kingdom 316.8 337.4
Rest of Europe 675.3 726.9
Latin America 46.3 88.9
North America 707.4 828.6
Asia Pacific 406.7 440.6
Other 229 234
Group’ 2,175.4 2,445.8

* Group turnover and operating profit (loss) excludes the Group's share of amounts relating to the joint venture (HMV Group plc), which was discontinued on 15 May 2002, and associated
undertakings. Amounts relating to the joint venture have been excluded due to non-coterminous period ends.
¥ Comprises operating exceptiona items of £{24.8)m (2002: £{242.4)m) and amortisation of goodwill and muac copyrights of £(42.7)m (2002: £(49.5)m). The split of operating exceptional items
and amortisation of goodwill and music copyrights is as follows:

By class of business: 2003 2002 By origin: 2003 2002
£m £m £m fm
Recorded Music (24.2) (235.1) United Kingdom (16.3) (19.2)
Music Publishing {43.4) {56.8) Rest of Europe (12.1) 53.3)
Group (67.6) 291.9) Latin America (©.1) ©22)
North America (38.4) (176.0)
Asia Pacific (0.4) {19.0)
Other (0.3) 22)
Group (67.6) (291.9)

The reconciliation of operating assets to net liabilities is as follows:
2003 2002
MNote £m £m
Operating assets 589.8 335.4
Tax, dividends and net interest payable (290.2) (166.6)
Capital employed 299.6 168.8
Net borrowings 18 (859.8) (1,057.9)
Net liabilities (560.2) (889.1)
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2.Analysis of profit and loss account

2003 2002
£m £rm
Cost of sales 1,376.7 17265
Cost of sales is analysed as:
—nomal 1,331.2 1,692.7
—exceptional items and music copyright amortisation 45.5 133.8
Net operating expenses:
Distribution costs 98.7 127.5
Administration expenses 544.7 708.9
Other operating income, net (31.1) (16.1)
612.3 820.3
Net operating expenses are analysed as:
—normal 590.2 662.2
—exceptional items and goodwill amortisation 22.1 158.1
Other operating income principally comprises the Group’s share of income from joint marketing arrangements, income from
disposal of investments entered into to support distribution, manufacturing and product supply arrangements, net patent
income and income from new media investments.
3.Group operating profit (loss)
2003 2002
£m £m
Operating profit (loss) is stated after charging:
Amortisation of music copyrights 39.0 435
Amortisation of goodwill 3.7 6.0
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 43.0 51.0
Operating lease rentals:
Property 23.6 253
Plant, equipment and vehicles 3.4 4.7
Research and development expenditure 0.1 0.2
4.Fees to auditors
2003 2002
£m £m
Audit fees paid to Ernst & Young 2.2 2.1
Audit fees paid to other firms 0.1 0.1
Other fees paid to Ernst & Young:
UK 0.6 0.3
Non-UK 0.8 1.2
Total 3.7 3.7

Otherfees include £0.8m (2002; £0.7m) paid to Ernst & Young for tax compliance and planning services and £0.6m (2002: £0.8m) for

regulatory and other assurance.

5.Directors’ and employees’ costs

2003 2002

£m £m
Wages and salaries 331.5 390.0
Social security costs 46.1 52.0
Other pension costs (see Note 30) 128 13.9
Total 390.4 455.9

Details of each Director’s remuneration, compensation for loss of office, pension entitiements, long-term incentive scheme

interests and share options areincluded in the Remuneration Report.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

6. Finance charges

2003 2002
£m £m £m £m
Interest payable on:
Bank overdrafts and loans 61.8 55.9
Other 18.6 15.0
80.4 70.9
Interest receivable on:
Bank balances (2.3) (2.7)
Other (2.0) (7.8)
(4.3) 10.5
Group finance charges (including associated undertakings) 76.1 60.4
Joint venture finance charges (HMV Group plc) 1.2 22.8
Total finance charges 77.3 83.2

Inthe yearto 31 March 2002, other interest payable of £15.0m included anon-periodic cost of £3.6m, being arrangement and
underwriting fees paid in respect of the new £1.3bn bank facility signed on 18 March 2002.

The Group holds various financial instruments in order to manage interest rate risk. Details of those financial instruments held at
the year end are given in Note 19(viii).

Finance charges for associated undertakings are £nil (2002: £nil).

7. Taxation
2003 2002
£m £m
(i) Analysis of tax charge in the year
Current tax:

UK corporation tax 37.7 10.8

Advance corporation tax written back on ordinary activities - (20.6)

Double taxation relief (4.9) 6.7)

328 (16.5)

Withholding tax 8.5 12.1

Other foreign tax 49.4 36.4

Adjustments in respect of prior years (11.5) (4.3)

Joint venture (0.3) 7.4

Total current tax 78.9 3561
Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of timing differences 4.2 2.6
Others:

Associated undertakings 0.1 0.5
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 83.2 38.2
(ii) Factors affecting current tax charge foryear

Profit (loss) on ordinary activities before tax 319.3 (152.8)
Tax at weighted average rate 118.1 (59.6)
Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4.1 43.4

Timing differences (3.9) (6.0)

Utilisation of tax losses and other credits (49.8) (36.3)

Origination of tax losses 6.8 85.8

Withholding tax and prior years adjustments 3.6 7.8
Current tax for the year 78.9 35.1

The weighted average tax rate is calculated by applying statutory tax rates to actual taxable profits and losses in the countrias of
operation.

(iii) Factors that may affect future tax charges

iNo provision has been made for deferred tax wiere potentiaily taxabie gains have been roiled over into repiacement assets,
except where there is acommitment to dispose of these assets. Such gains would only become taxable if the assets were sold
without it being possible to claim roll-over relief or offset existing capital losses. The Group does not expect any such tax to
become payable in the foreseeable future.

No deferred tax has been recognised in respect of tax on gains arising from the revaluation of fixed assets, as the Group is not
committed to the dispcsal of these assets. No deferred tax has been recegnised in respect of the earnings of overseas
subsidiaries as no dividends have been accrued.

Deferred tax assets which have not been recognised are tax losses and credits with a value of £112.1m, depreciation in advance

of capital allowances with a value of £10.1m, and other timing differences with a value of £100.1m, as there is insufficient
certainty as to the availability of future taxable profits.
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8. Dividends (equity)

2003 2002 2003 2002
Per share Per share £m £rm

Ordinary dividends (net):
Interim 2.00p 4.25p 15.8 335
Adjustment to 2003 and 2002 interim - - - 0.2)
Proposed final 6.00p 3.75p 47.2 296
Adjustment to 2002 and 2001 final - - (0.2) 0.7
Total 8.00p 8.00p 62.8 62.2

Subject to the approval of shareholders, the final dividend of 6.00p per share will be paid on 3 October 2003 to shareholders on

the register at the close of business on 5 September 2003.

9.Exceptional items
(i) Operating exceptional items
2003 2002
£m £m
Release of overprovision for reorganisation costs charged in prior year 6.0 -
Restructuring and reorganisation costs:
Heedcount reduction (6.0) (93.7)
Roster reduction™ - (69.4)
Impact of economic downturnin Latin America™ - (16.7)
Restructuring of satellite label activity =" - (40.5)
Assetimpairment and other’ (24.9) (22.1)
Total (24.9) (242.4)
Including write-downs of music copyrights (£6.5m), goodwill (£12.1m), cument asset i (£2.5m) and i "

own shares (£3.8m) in 2003. Including goodwill (£5.7m) and relocation and other costs (£16.4m) in 2002.
* Includes £39.3m relating to the termination of the recording contract with Mariah Garey.
“* Resuted in significantly increased returns and bad debts.
""" Including goodwill (£23.6m) and associateinvestment (£15.5m) write-offs.

Assets have been written down to their net realisable value or to a discounted cash flow projection. Average discount rates of
10% have been applied in the impairment reviews completed during the year. Tha discount rates used are appropriate to the

assets being valued.

The attributable taxation credit relating to operating exceptional items is £nil (2002: £7.8m).

(i) Non-operating exceptional items

2003 2002

£m £m

Profit on sale of holding in HMV Group ple, including goodwill of £262.5m (Note 31(ii) 215.2 -
Loss on sale of subsidiary undertaking, including goodwill of £8.4m (Note 31(jii)) (25.2) -
Net gain (provision for loss) on sale of fixed assets’ 19.7 -
Total 209.7 -

The attributable taxation charge relating to non-operating exceptional items is £38.4m (2002: £nil).

" Including a provision for loss on disposal of £(1.8)m and a gain on sale of Viva Media AG of £28.0m.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

10.Earnings per Ordinary Share

2003 2302

Basic earnings per Ordinary Share is calculated as follows:

Earnings £229.7m £(199.5)m

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue 784.0m 782.8m

Earnings per Ordinary Share 29.3p (25.5)p
Diluted earnings per Ordinary Share is calculated as follows:

Earnings £229.7m £(199.5)m

Adjusted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares 784.4m 783.6m

Earnings per Ordinary Share 29.3p (25.5)p
Adjusted basic earnings per Ordinary Share is calculated as follows:

Adjusted earnings £122.2m £92.1m

Weighted average number of Ordinary Sharesin issue 784.0m 782.8m

Adjusted earnings per Ordinary Share 15.6p 11.8p
Adjusted diluted earnings per Ordinary Share is calculated as follows:

Adjusted earnings £122.2m £92.1m

Adjusted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares 784.4m 783.6m

Adjusted earnings per Ordinary Share 15.6p 11.8p

Adjusted earnings are included as they provide a better understanding of the underlying trading performance of the Group on a

normalised basis.

Reconciliation of adjusted earnings

Year ended 31 March 2003 Year ended 31 March 2002

£m Pershare £m Pershare
Earnings/basic EPS 229.7 29.3p (199.5) (25.5)p

Adjustments:

Operating exceptional items 249 3.2p 242.4 31.0p
Non-operating exceptional items (209.7) (26.8)p - -
Share of operating exceptional items in joint venture - - 10.3 1.3p
Share of exceptional finance charges in joint venture - - 21 0.3p
Amortisation of goodwill and music copyrights 42.8 5.5p 51.3 6.5p
Attributable taxation to non-operating exceptional items 38.4 4.9p (7.8) (1.0p
Minority interest (re music copyright amortisation) (3.9) (0.5)p 4.3) 0.5)p
Minority interest (re operating exceptional items) - - (5.3 07p
Minority interest (re attributable taxation) - - 2.9 04p
Adjusted earnings/adjusted EPS 122,2 15.6p 92.1 11.8p
Adjusted dilution impact n/a - n/a -
Adjusted earnings/adjusted diluted EPS 122.2 15.6p 92.1 11.8p

The adjusted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares used in the diluted earnings per share calculations, 784.4m
(2002: 783.6m), is the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue, 784.0m (2002: 782.8m), plus adjustments

for dilutive share optiors, 0.4m (2002: 0.8m).

11. Music copyrights

Group
£m

Cost at 31 March 2002 864.0
Currency retranslation (66.6)
Acquisition of businesses 8.6
Additions 7.6
Disposals 2.9)
Reclassification 0.5
Costat 31 March 2003 811.2
Amortisation at 31 March 2002 345.8
Currency retranslation (30.4)
Charge for year 39.0
Disposals (1.7)
Write-down of music copyrights 6.5
Reclassification 0.8
Amortisation at 31 March2003 = 3600
Net book values at 31 March 2003 451.2

31 March 2002 518.2
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12. Goodwill (capitalised)

Group
£m
Costat 31 March 2002 38.7
Gurrency retranslation 2.2)
Acquisition of businesses 39.8
Costat 31 March 2003 76.3
Amortisation at 31 March 2002 47
Currency retranslation 0.4)
Write-down of goodwill 121
Charge for year 3.7
Amortisation at 31 March 2003 20.1
Net book values at 31 March 2003 56.2
31 March 2002 34.0
13.Tangible fixed assets
Group
Plant,
Freehold Leasehold equipment
property property  and vehicles Total
£m £m £m
Costat 31 March 2002 209.1 373 341.6 588.0
Currency retranslation and reclassification 1.7 (3.8) (4.5) (6.6)
Acquisition of businesses - 0.1 0.2 0.3
Dispesal of businesses - - (1.1) (1.1)
Additions 5.5 37.8 25.2 68.5
Dispesals (7.8) (2.8 (25.2) (35.8)
Costat 31 March 2003 208.5 68.6 336.2 613.3
Depreciation at 31 March 2002 36.6 224 251.7 310.7
Currency retranslation and reclassification 2.8 (2.1 (2.9) (2.2)
Dispcsal of businesses - - (0.9) (0.9)
Charge for year 4.0 4.6 344 43.0
Dispcsals (3.2) (2.6) (22.7) (28.5)
Write-down of tangible fixed assets 1.8 - - 1.8
Depreciation at 31 March 2003 42.0 22.3 259.6 323.9
Net book values at 31 March 2003 166.5 46.3 76.6 289.4
31 March 2002 172.5 14.9 89.9 277.3
Freehold property includes land having a cost of £89.1m (2002: £83.4m) which is not depreciated.
Group
2003 2002
£m £m
The nat book values shown above include the following:
Long-term leasehold property 5.9 8.1
Short-term leasehold property 40.4 6.8
Finance lease assets 3.0 35
Assets in the course of construction 19.5 7.0
Company
Plant,
Freehold Leasehold equipment
property property  and vehicles Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost at 31 March 2002 8.4 46 15.9 289
Additions 0.1 12.8 0.5 13.4
Dispcsals and transfers - - (0.7) 0.7)
Costat 31 March 2003 8.5 17.4 15.7 41.6
Depreciation at 31 March 2002 1.7 1.6 12.0 15.3
Charge for year 0.2 0.1 1.0 13
Dispcsals and transfers - - (0.6) (0.6)
Depreciation at 31 March 2003 1.9 1.7 12.4 16.0
Net book values at 31 March 2003 6.6 15.7 3.3 25.6
31 March 2002 6.7 3.0 3.9 13.6
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

14.Fixed asset investments

2003 ] 2003 OO0
£m £m £m £m
Investments comprise:
Subsidiary undertakings - - 2,52.7 2,386.7
Joint venture (HMV Group plc) - - - 96.5
Associated undertakings 6.7 71 0.6 0.6
Other fixed asset investments 15.5 22.4 0.2 0.2
22.2 295 2,535 24840
Joint venture (HMV Group plc) - (159.9) - -
22,2 (130.4) 2,153.5 2,484.0
Listed investments - - - -
Unlisted investments 22.2 (130.4) 2,453.5 2484.0
22.2 (130.4) 2,53.5 24840
The market value of listed investments at 31 March 2003 was £nil (2002: £nil).
(i) Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Company
Costof Met book
shares Loans Provisions value
£m £m £m em
At 31 March 2002 2,027.0 480.2 (120.5) 2,386.7
Additions - 23.6 - 236
Disposals, transfers and other movements - (257.6) - (257.6)
At 31 March 2003 2,027.0 246.2 (120.5) 2,152.7
Details of significant subsidiary undertakings are set out in Note 34.
(ii) Joint venture (HMV Group plc)
Group
Netequity Goodwil Share of Net book
investment written off net assets Provisions” value
£m £m &m £m em
At 31 March 2002 103.6 (262.5)  (158.9) (1.0) (159.9)
Netloss 0.5) - (0.5) - (0.5)
Disposal (103.1) 262.5 159. 1.0 160.4
At 31 March 2003 - - - - -
~ The provision of £1.0m represented the elimination of the Group's share of unrealised profits in HMV Group plc's stocks,
Company
Costof Net book
shares Loans Provisions value
£m £m £m em
At 31 March 2002 96.5 - - 96.5
Disposal (96.5) - - (96.5)

At 31 March 2003

The Company holds investments at cost, less provisions for diminution in value.
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14. Fixed asset investments (continued)

(ii) Joint venture (HMV Group plc) (continued)
Share of net liabilities

Group
2003 2002
£m £m
Fixed assets - 61.5
Current assets - 141.8
Total assets - 203.3
Short-term liabilities - (176.5)
Long-term liabilities - (186.7)
Total liabilities - (363.2)
Share of net liabilities - (159.9)
(iii) Associated undertakings
Group
Net equity Goodwil Shareof  Capitalised Net book
investment written off net assets goodwill Loans value
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2002 321 (43.4) (11.3) 1.7 16.7 71
Currency retranslation 1.4 - 14 0.3 (1.4) (0.3)
Additions’ and new loans 0.4 - 0.4 1.4 - 1.8
Net profits (losses) after tax 0.1 - 0.1 0.1) - -
Dividends 0.1) - 0.1) - - 0.1)
Dispcsals, provisions and loans repaid 12.9 - 12.9 - (14.7) (1.8)
At 31 March 2003 46.8 (43.4) 3.4 2.7 0.6 6.7
* Total consideration on purchase of associated undertakings comprises costs and loans totalling £0.4m (2002: £1.9m).
Company
Cost af Net book
shares Provisions value
£m £m £m
At 31 March 2002 0.7 (0.1) 0.6
At 31 March 2003 0.7 (0.1) 0.6
The Company holds investments at cost, less provisions for diminution in value.
(iv) Other fixed asset investments
Group Company
Cost of Net book Cost of Net book
shares Provisions. value shares Provisions value
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2002 289 (6.5) 22.4 25 (2.3) 0.2
Currency retranslation (1.4) 0.2 (1.2) - - -
Additions 10.4 - 10.4 - - -
Dispcsals and reclassifications (16.1) = (16.1) - - -
At 31 March 2003 21.8 (6.3) 15.5 2.5 (2.3) 0.2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

15.Investments: own shares

The EMI Group General Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) was established to hedge the future obligations of the Group in respect of
shares awarded under the Senior Executive Incentive Plan (SEIP), the EMI Music Long-Term Incentive Plan and other share-
based plans. The Trustee of the EBT, EMI Group EBT (Guernsey) Limited, purchases the Company’s Ordinary Shares in the open
market with financing provided by the Company, as required, on the basis of regular reviews of the anticipated share liabilities of
the Group. The EBT has, since December 1598, waived any entitiement to the receipt of dividends in respect of all of its holding
of the Company’s Ordinary Shares. The EBT’s waiver of dividends may be revoked or varied at any time.

The cost of the shares expected to be awarded under each plan is amortised over the period from the original grant of the
particular award to the time of vesting. This is ncrmally a period of not less than three years.

The carrying value of the unallocated shares held at the balance sheet date has been written-down to £1 per share to recognise
the recent fall in the shere price.

Ciroug sind Camprty Shares held Nominal Net book
intrust value Cost  Amortisation value

Me. £m £m £m £m

At 1 April 2002 5,265,995 0.7 24.3 (11.2) 13.1
Shares purchased 295,984 - 0.8 - 0.8
Awarded by the EBT (1129,295) (0.1) 4.8) 4.8 -
Amortisation in the year - - - (2.8) 2.8)
Write-down of investments: own shares - (3.8) (3.8)

At 31 March 2003 4,432,684 0.6 20.3 (13.0) 7.3
At 31 March 2003, the outstanding loan by the Company to the EBT to finance the purchase of Ordinary Shares was £20.5m
(2002: £24.6m). The market value at 31 March 2003 of the Ordinary Shares heldinthe EBT, which arelisted in the UK, was £4.0m
(2002: £19.0m).

16.Stocks
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m
Raw materials and consumables 15.2 13.8 - -
Work in progress 25 2.5 - -
Finished goods 18.7 26.7 - -
Total 36.4 43.0 - -
17.Debtors
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m
Due within one year:
Trade debtors 434.8 386.7 1.3 1.4
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 2,36.9 1169.9
Amounts owed by associated undertakings 0.6 0.3 - -
Amounts owed by joint venture (HMV Group plc) - 13.1 - -
Corporate taxation recoverable 17.3 14.1 - -
Other debtors 63.7 104.9 2.3 3.6
Prepayments and accrued income 300.3 244.6 0.5 1.2

816.7 763.7 2441.0 1176.1

Due after more than one year:

Corporate taxation recoverable - 2.3 - -
Other debtors 6.0 23.9 1.5 0.6
Prepayments and accrued income 132.6 107.6 - -
138.6 133.8 1.5 06

Total 955.3 897.5 2]42.5 1176.7

Other debtors due within one year includes £1.8m (2002: £1.5m) book value of listed investments with a market value of £2.5m
(2002: £5.1m).
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18.Borrowings

Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m

Long-term borrowings
US$500m 8.375% Guaranteed Notes’ 315.4 350.8 - -
8.25% Sterling Bonds™ 322.8 - - -
US$155m 6.96% Senior Notes™ and US$25m 8.01% Senior Notes™ 113.9 - - -
Drawings under long-term committed facilities 166.8 18.4 - -
Termloan® 3.5 49 - -
Finance leases 1.5 2.0 - -
Less: repayable within one year (1.9) (2.8 - -
Total long-term borrowings 922.0 373.3 - -

Short-term borrowings
Loans and overdrafts 35.9 767.4 - -
Finance leases 0.7 0.8 - -
Short-term element of long-term loans 1.9 2.8 - -
Total short-term borrowings 38.5 771.0 - -
Total borrowings 960.5 1,144.3 - -

Liguid funds:

Investments: liquid funds (0.5) 0.7) - -
Cash at bank and in hand and cash deposits (100.2) 85.7) (0.6) (6.5)
Net borrowings 859.8 10579 (0.6) (6.5)

* DueAugust 2009, issued in August 1999

™ Due May 2008, issued in May 2002

™ DueAugust 2009, issued in August 2002
Due August 2012, issued in August 2002

* DueApril 2005

Long-term borrowings include £166.8m (2002: £18.4m) of borrowings repayable within one year, which are drawings under

long-term committed facilities and, therefore, have been classified as such.

Under their banking arrangements, overdraft and cash balances of the Company and of certain subsidiaries are pooled or offset
and cross-guaranteed. Such pooling and offsets are reflected in the Group balance sheet as appropriate.

The Group has cash balances of £20.7m held with banks within the UK and £80.0m held with banks outside, but freely

transferable to, the UK.

Maturity analysis of long-term borrowings

Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m

Amounts falling due after more than one year are repayzble as follows:
Between one and two years 169.1 2.8 - -
Between two and five years 59.6 19.7 - -

After five years:

By instalments 39.3 - - -
Other 654.0 350.8 - -
Total 922.0 373.3 - -

The amount of debt, any of which falls due for payment after more than five years, is £693.3m (2002: £350.6m).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

19. Derivatives and other financial instruments

The Group has excluded all short-term debtors and creditors from the following disclosures, other than currency exposures.

(i) Interest rate risk profile of the financial liabilities of the Group

At 31 March 2003

At 31 March 2002

Financial Financial

Floating rate Fixed rate on Floating rate Fixed rate liabilities on

. financial financial which no . financial financial whichno

Total liabilities liabilities interest is paid Total liabilities liabilities intarest is paid

Currency £m £m £m £m £m £m m £m
Sterling 363.3 0.9 322.8 39.6 16.8 6.6 - 10.2
US dollar 461.8 14.4 429.3 18.1 6039 5786 - 253

Yen 96.9 1.1 93.3 2.5 1413 46.2 92.7 2.4¢
Euro 76.1 76.1 - - 3201  320.0 - 0.1
Swedish krona - - - - 66.6 66.6 - -
Danish krone - - - - 1.5 1.5 - -
Other 22.7 22.6 - 0.1 32.1 321 - -
Total 1,020.8 115.1 845.4 60.3 1182.3 1051.6 92.7 38.0

° Excludes short-term creditors as permitted by FRS13.

* Represents deposits from retailers. The deposits are repayable when trading ceases and therefore there s no fixed term to maturity.

At 31 March 2002

Financial Financial
liabilities on liabilities on
which no whichno
Fixed rate fi ial liabilities intes is: Fixed rate financial liabilities interest is paid

Weighted Weightad
Weighted average period Weighted Weighted  average period Weighted
average for which rate average period average for which rate average period
interest rate is fixed until maturity interest rate is fixed until maturity
Currency Yo Years Years % Years Years
Sterling 9.7 5.2 24 - - 2.2
US dollar 8.4 5.8 4.9 - - 6.1
Yen 0.3 1.0 n/a’ 0.4 2.0 n/a
Euro - - - - - 1.5

* Represents deposits from retailers. The deposits are repayable whentrading ceases and therefore there s no fixed term to maturity.

Floating rate financial liabilities comprise bank borrowings. All floating rate financial liabilities bear interest at rates fixed in
advance by reference to the applicable bank reference rate in the relevant country for periods ranging from overnight to six months.

The figures shown in the tables above take into account various interest rate and currency swaps used to manage interest rate
risk and the currency profile of financial liabilities. Further protection from interest rate movementsis provided by interest raie
caps and collars. See Note 19 (viii) for further details of interest rate collars and swaps held as at 31 March 2003,

(ii) Interest rate risk profile of the financial assets of the Group

At31 March 2003

At 31 March 2002

Financial Financial

Floating rate Fixed rate assets on Floating rate Fixed rate assetson

. financial financial which no - financial financial whichno

Total assets assets interestiseamed” Total assets assets  interest is eamed®

Currency £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Sterling 91.0 20.1 - 70.9 56.8 11.0 - 45.8
US dollar 75.3 12.5 - 62.8 80.9 6.8 - 74.1
Yen 41.4 21.0 - 204 39.2 21.2 - 18.0
Euro 20.0 18.9 - 1.1 34.2 24.7 - 9.5
Swedish krona 3.1 23 - 0.8 2.5 - - 25
Danish krone 0.8 0.6 - 0.2 1.1 1.1 - -
Other 25.8 25.3 - 0.5 32.0 216 = 10.4
Total 257.4  100.7 - 156.7 2467 864 - 160.3

" Excludes short-term debtors as permitted by FRS13.

* Financial assets on which no intzrest is earned represent mainly advaices to artists and investmeants for which no meaningful average fixed period to maturity can be caleulatad

Floating rate financial assets comprise cash at bank and deposits. All floatng rate financial assets earn interest at rates fixed in
advance by reference to the applicable bank reference rate in the relevant country for periods ranging from overnight to six months.
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19. Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Currency exposures

As explained on page 28 in the Financial Review, the Group’s objective in managing currency exposures arising from its net
investments overseas (its structural currency exposures) is to maintain appropriate levels of borrowings by currency to hedge
partially against currency depreciation. Gains and losses arising from these structural currency exposures are recognised in the
statement of total recognised gains and losses.

The table below shows the Group’s currency exposures, being those trading assets and liabilities (or non-structural exposures)
that give rise to the net currency gains and losses recognised in the profit and loss account. Such exposures comprise the
monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in the operating (or functional) currency of the
operating unit involved, other than certain non-sterling borrowings treated as hedges of net investments in overseas operations.
These exposures were as follows:

At 31 March 2003
- Net foreign currency monetary assets (liabilities)
Sterling US dollar Yen Euro Other
Functional currency of Group it £m £m £m £m £m
Sterling n/a (3.6) 2.3 14.6 6.3
US dollar (1.6) n/a - 0.9) (0.9)
Yen (0.6) 0.2) n/a - 02
Euro 6.3 (1.1) - n‘a 1.1
Other (3.8) 0.4 (4.1) 0.1 04
Total 0.3 (4.5) (1.8 13.8 7.1

At 31 March 2002
MNet foreign curmency monetary assets (liabilities)
Slerm us dngar Yan Euro Other
m

Functioral currency of Group operation £m £m £m
Sterling n/a 8.6 4.8 229 18.2
US dollar 49 n/a 0.1 0.1 2.8)
Yen (0.3) 0.1) n/a - 0.2
Euro 18 (1.1) 0.1 n/a 16
Other (2.8) 2.6 - 0.3) 09
Total 3.6 10.0 5.0 22.7 18.1

(iv) Maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities, other than short-term creditors such as trade creditors and accruals, was
as follows:

2003 2002

£m £m
In one year or less, or on demand 38.5 771.0
In more than one year but not more than two years 193.4 9.6
In more than two years but not more than five years 27.3 40.4
In more than five years 761.6 361.3

Total 1,020.8 11823
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19. Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)
(v) Undrawn facilities

The Group has various borrowing facilities available to it. The undrawn committed facilities available at 31 March in respect of
which all conditions precedent had been met at that date were as follows:

2003 2002

£m £m

Expiring in one year or less 38.2 4919
Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years 447.7 21.6
Expiring in more than two years - -
Total 485.9 513.5

On 18 March 2002 the Group signed a new bank facility. This £1.3bn multi-currency revolving credit facility was drawn for the
first time in April 2002 and was used to repay most of the Group’s existing bank facilities. The new facility comprised an £800m
three-year revolving credit and a £500m short-term bridging arrangement, part of which was itself refinanced during the year by
the various debt issues and asset disposals.

(vi) Fair values of financial assets (liabilities)

2003 2002,
Book value Fair value’ Book value Fair value’
£m £m £m £m
Primary financial instruments held orissued to
finance the Group’s operations:
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings (38.5) (38.8) (771.00 (771.0)
Long-term borrowings (922.0) (846.5) (373.3) (369.4)
Liquid funds 100.7 100.7 86.4 86.4
Other financial liabilities (60.3) (60.3) (38.5) (38.5)
Derivative financial instruments held to manage
the interest rate and currency profile:
Interest rate swaps n/a (0.2) n/a 20.5
Interest rate caps and collars - (6.5) - (6.8)
Currency swaps and forward foreign currency contracts n/a - n/a -
Financial assets:
Financial assets - listed investments 1.8 25 1.5 5.1
Financial assets - other 154.9 154.9 158.8 158.8

" Market rates have been used to cetermine fair values,

Long-term borrowings include a US$ Guaranteed Notes issue (book value £315.4m) with a fair value of £275.3m, a Sterling Bond
issue (book value £322.8m) with a fair value of £288.4m and a US$ Private Placement (book value of £113.9m) with a fair value of
£112.9m. The majority of other borrowings and liquid funds are short-term in nature and book values approximate to fair values.
The market value of listed investments is given above. For all other financial assets and liabilities, book values approximate to fair
values. During the yearaloss of £(0.2)m was made on the sale of current asset investments (2002: profit of £3.3m).

(vii) Hedges
As explained in the Financial Review on page 25, the Group’s policy is to hedge interest rate risk, using interest rate swaps, caps
and collars. Unrecognised gains and losses on instruments used for hedging, and the movements therein, are as follows:

Total net

Gains Losses  gains(losses)

£m fm £m

Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at 1 April 2002 0.3 (7.6) (7.3)

Gains and losses arising in previous years that were recognised in 2003 - 1.2) (1.2)

Gains and losses arising before 1 April 2002 that were not recognised in 2003 0.3 6.4) (8.1)

Gains and losses arising in 2003 that were not recognised in 2003 (0.3) 0.3) (0.6)

Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at 31 March 2003 - (6.7) 6.7)
Of which:

Gains and losses expected to be recognised in 2004 - (6.5) (6.5)

Gains and losses expected to be recognised in 2005 or later - (0.2) 0.2)

- 6.7) 6.7)
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19. Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

(viii) Financial instruments

Interest rate agreements

To manafge interest rate risk, theGroup has entered into certain interest rate collar and swap agreements which,as at31 March2003,
were as follows:

Noticnal Termination
principal date

Interest rate collars:
USdollar $400m April 2003 to February 2004
Euro €90m April 2003
MNoticnal Termination Fixed
principal date rate

Interest rate swaps:
Yer - pay fixed rate and receive floating rate ¥17.5bn April 2004 0.29%

Swap unwind: In February 2003, following a routine review of derivative positions in the prevailing market conditions, the

Group unwound a US$500m interest rate swap position. The swap effectively switched the 8.375% fixed coupon on the US$
Guaranteed Notes issued in August 1999 to a floating rate of interest. The Group received a cash payment of US$86.2m (£55.6m)
on the unwind, representing the present value of the expected cash savings from the swap as determined by the expected
differential between US short- and long-term interest rates, discounted at the prevailing market rate. At 31 March 2002 this swap
position had a fair value of £21.0m. The cash payment is reported on the interest paid line of the Consolidated Cash Flow
Statement.The gain from the unwind will be amortised over the remaining life of the Notes, thus locking in the future interest cost
benefit to be obtained from the swap.The swap unwind reduces the Group’s overall interest rate risk.

Exchange rate agreements
To manage exchange rate risk on intra-group funding, the Group has entered into certain currency swaps and forward foreign
currency contracts which as at 31 March 2003 were as follows:

Gross noticnal
amount Value
purchased date
Australian dollar $6.5m April 2003
Canadian dollar $10.0m April 2003

20. Cash, liquid resources and financing

The following definitions have been used:

Cash: Cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand if available within 24 hours without penalty, including overdrafts.
Liquid resources: Investments and deposits, other than those included as cash, which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash.

Financing: Borrowings, less cverdrafts which have been treated as cash.

Analysis of movement in the Group’s net borrowings in the year ended 31 March 2003

At Acquisitions! Exchange At

1 April 2002 Cashflow disposals movement 31 March 2003

£m £m £m £m £m

Cashatbank and in hand 84.4 13.8 - 1.7 99.9
Overdrafts (40.7) 15.8 - 0.1)  (25.0)
Cash 43.7 29.6 - 1.6 74.9
Debt due after more than one year (371.3) (558.4) - 9.2 (920.5)
Debt due within one year (729.5) 712.4 (4.3) 8.6 (12.8)
Finance leases (2.8) 0.9 - (0.3) (2.2)
Financing (1,103.6) 154.9 4.3 17.5  (935.5)
Investments: liquid funds 07 0.2) - - 0.5
Cash deposits 1.3 (0.9) - (0.1) 0.3
Liguid resources 2.0 (1.1) - (0.1) 0.8
Total (1,057.9) 1834 (4.3) 19.0 (859.8)

Cash flow on financing of £154.9m is split between new loans of £(603.5)m, loans repaid of £757.5m and the capital element of
finance leases repaid of £0.9m.
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20.Cash, liquid resources and financing (continued)

Analysis of movement in the Group’s net borrowings in the year ended 31 March 2002

A uisitions/ Exchange At

1 April E%Drl Cashﬁ% dlsposarI: rmven'gn; 31 MalchEﬁ

Cash at bank and in hand 130.4 (43.4) - (2.6) 84.4
Overdrafts (25.6) (14.1) (1.0) - (40.7)
Cash 104.8 (57.5) (1.0) (2.6) 43.7
Debt due after more than one year (464.9) 93.3 - 0.3 (371.3)
Debt due within one year (636.0) (95.0) 15 (729.5)
Finance leases (3.9 1.1 - - (2.8)
Financing (1104.8) (0.6) - 18 (11036
Investments: liquid funds 0.7 - - 0.7
Cash deposits 6.5 (5.1) - (0:1) 1.3
Liquid resources 7.2 (5.1) — (0.1) 2.0
Total (992.8) (63.2) (1.0) (0.9) (1,057.9)

Cash flow on financing of £(0.6)m is split between new loans of £(460.3)m, loans repaid of £458.6m and the capital element of

finance leases repaid of £1.1m.

The Group’s net borrowings at 31 March 2003 comprised:

resources and Net
Cash financing bomowings
£m £m
Investments: liquid funds - 0.5 0.5
Cash at bank and in hand and cash deposits 99.9 03 100.2
Borrowings due within one year (25.0) (13.5) (38.5)
Borrowings due after more than one year - (922.0) (922.0)
At 31 March 2003 749 (934.7) (859.8)
At 31 March 2002 43.7  (1,101.6) (1,057.9)
21.0ther creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m
Trade creditors 186.7 181.2 4.0 1.7
Royalties and fees payable 665.1 678.5 - -
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 4.4 41
Amounts owed to associated undertakings 0.6 17 0.6 0.6
Amounts owed to joint venture (HMV Group plc) - 0.1 - -
Corporate taxation 176.5 160.2 24.5 23.2
Deferred consideration payable 10.9 2.0 - -
Other taxes including VAT and social security costs 13.5 16.5 0.7 0.2
Dividends payable 63.0 28.6 63.0 29.6
Other creditors 76.6 87.8 18.9 1.0
Accruals and deferred income 172.1 139.5 8.3 17.8
Total 1,365.0 1297.1 124.4 78.2
" Deferred consideration payable includes £10.5m which is not conditional upon the satisfaction of future performance criteria.
22.0ther creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 741.2 597.0
Deferred consideration payable’ 39.6 10.3 - -
Accruals and deferred income 18.5 17.1 - -
Total 58.1 27.4 741.2 597.0

* Defemmed consideration payable includes £24.8m which is not conditional upon the satisfaction of future performance criteria.
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23.Deferred taxation

Group Company
£rm £rm
At 31 March 2002 (13.7) -
Provided in year 4.2 -
Acquisitions, disposals and transfers 04 -
At 31 March 2003 (9.1) -
The liabilities (assets) for deferred tax provided were as follows:
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m
Capital allowances in advance of depreciation 5.0 4.2 - -
Other timing differences 0.5 (0.8 - -
Total liabilities 5.5 34 - -
Depreciation in advance of capital allowances (2.0) (3.3 - -
Othertiming differences (12.6) (13.8) - -
Total assets (14.6) (17.1) - -
Net asset (9.1) (13.7) - -
Those categories for which no deferred tax is provided are outlined in Accounting Policies on page 65.
24, Other provisions for liabilities and charges
Group
Disposal and Acquisition
fundamental and
Trading Pensions reorganisation integration Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2002 121.1 326 4.0 15.4 173.1
Currency retranslation (2.3) 3.9 - (1.5) 0.1
Provisions utilised (74.9) (8.0) (1.6) 0.8) (85.3)
Charged against:
Operating profit 4.8 4.9 - - 9.7
Non-operating exceptional items - - 5.0 - 5.0
Dispcsal of businesses (0.2) - - - 0.2)
Reclassification 2.0 - - - 20
At 31 March 2003 50.5 33.4 7.4 13.1 104.4

The pansion provisions arise in overseas companies in respect of state schemes and employees covered by the Group’s unfunded

schemes.

Trading provisions include royalty audit and other trading provisions charged through operating profit before exceptional items,
and restructuring and reorganisation provisions charged through operating exceptional items.

Company

Disposal and Acquisition

fundamental and
Tracing Pensions  reorganisation integration Total
fm £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2002 6.4 - 4.0 - 10.4
Provisions utilised (3.2) - (1.6) - (4.8)
Charged against operating prcfit 1.0 - - - 1.0
At 31 March 2003 4.2 - 24 - 6.6
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25.Share capital and share premium account

Group and Company
Authorised Allctted, called-up & fully paid
2003 2002 2002
. = L. S £m _ &m
Ordinary Shares of 14p each 158.8 158.8 110.4 110.4
B Shares of 114.5p each 479.8 479.8 - -
Deferred shares of 0.0005p each 17.5 17.5 - -
656.1 656.1 110.4 110.4
(i) Ordinary Shares in issue
MNominal
Number value Premium
£m £m
At 31 March 2002 788,597,933 110.4 445.8
Shares issued during the year on the exercise of options:
Executive Schemes - - -
Savings-Related Scheme - - -
At 31 March 2003 788,597,933 110.4 445.8
(ii) Share options

Options to subscribe for the Company’s Ordinary Shares were outstanding as follows (adjusted for the 1992 rights issue, ths

1996 demerger and the 1997 share capital reorganisation, where appropriate):

Subscription Options T

Executive Share Share Option Scheme

OptionSchemes 1994 Scheme
At 31 March 2002 14,923,843 1,441,990
Granted 21,077,740 1,275,631
Exercised - -
Lapsed (2,539,441) (1,188,477)
At 31 March 2003 33,462,142° 1,529,144
Option price per 14p share (range) 14p-747p 221p-466p
Final exercise date’ February 2013 February 2008
# Ofwhich, options over 366,558 shares were granted under the 1984 Executive Share Option Scheme
Share options for the transfer of the Company’s Ordinary Shares were ouistanding as follows:
Transfer Options

Executive Share
Option Schemes

At 31 March 2002 19,437,555
Granted 553,000
Exercised B
Lapsed -
At 31 March 2003 19,990,555
Option price per 14p share (range) 243.3p-700p
Final exercise date’ June 2012

" Options granted under the 1984 Executive Share Option Scheme are normally exercisable no earlier than three years and no later than ten years fdlowing the date of grant, as are options
granted under the 1995 Executive Share Option Scheme (which are, t subject to the ach nt of performance requirements that must be met before the options normally become
exercisable). Options granted under the 1994 Savings-Related Share Option Scheme are normally exercisable for a six-month period following completion of savings to either a three-yzarora

five-year savings contract,



25.Share capital and share premium account (continued)

(iii) Share premium account
The principal elements that make up the Company’s share premium account arose as follows:

Group and Company

‘Years arising £m
Conversions to Ordinary Shares of 7% Convertible Redeemable Second 1989/90
Cumulative Preference Shares 1992/99 of £1 each and1990/91 56.7
A placing of Ordinary Shares linked to the offer for Thames Television 1990/91 78.0
Issue of Ordinary Shares on exercise of subscription rights of warrants originally attached
to 7% % bonds due 1992; and 1991/92 67.1
the transfer from other reserves in respect of amounts paid for the warrants exercised 1991/92 10.2
Issue of Ordinary Shares on conversion of Convertible Unsecured Loan
Stock to fund the acquisition of Virgin Music Group 1992/93 508.4
Issue of Ordinary Shares on conversion of 5%:% Guaranteed Redeemable
Preference Shares 2004 of THORN EMI Capital NV 1993/94 126.0
Share capital reorganisation (including issue of Redeemable Preference B Shares) 1997/98 (501.2)
Otherissues of Ordinary Shares 100.6
Balance at 31 March 2003 445.8
26. Reserves
Group Company
Capital Capital
redemption Other Profit and redemption Other Profit and
rzserve resenves loss reserve reserve reserves loss reserve
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2002 495.8 256.0 (2,338.2) 495.8 436.4  1519.9
Currency translation - - (13.5) - - 04
Goodwill adjustments:
Subsidiary undertakings - - 8.4 - - _
Profit attributable to members of the
Holding Company - o 229.7 - - 188.6
Equity dividend - - (62.8) - - (62.8)
Share of joint venture reserves adjustment = - 176.3 - - -
Transfer of realised reserves - - - - (0.8) 0.8
At 31 March 2003 495.8 256.0 (2,001.1) 495.8 435.6 1,646.9

Group reserves include £(10.3)m (2002: £(3.3)m) in respect of its share of post-acquisition retained losses of the joint venture

and associated undertakings.

Other reserves of the Company relate to a special reserve which reflects the share premium account reduction of July 1988

and unrealised profits on disposal of investments.

In accordance with the exemption permitted by S230(3) of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss account of the
Company is not separately presented. The profit attributable to shareholders, dealt with in the accounts of the Company,

is £189.2m (2002: £117.6m).

The Group profit and loss reserve includes £1,265.3m (2002: £1,449.0m) in respect of goodwill previously written off.

27. Minority interests (equity)

Group
2003 2002
£m £m
Toshiba-EMI Ltd (Japan) 69.3 69.2
Jobete Music Co., Inc. (USA) 59.1 66.2
Other 4.5 57
Total 132.9 1411
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28.Financial commitments

Group
2003 2002
£m £m
Capital expenditure: Contracted 1.4 25.6

The Group has commitments, which are largely performance-related, to pay advances to artists and repertoire owners
amounting to £460.9m at 31 March 2003 (2002: £418.8m). The future financial commitment regarding the acquisition
of shares in Jobete Music Co., Inc. and Stone Diamond Music Corporaticn is detailed in Note 33.

Annual commitments under operating leases at 31 March were as follows:
G?bl.ulg Company

2003 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m
Land and buildings:

Expiring in the first year 4.9 8.3 0.1 -
Expiring in the second to fifth years inclusive 7.1 5.9 - 0.3
Expiring after the fifth year 13.7 13.6 3.2 3.4
Total 25.7 27.8 3.3 3.7

Plant, equipment and vehicles:
Expiring in the first year 0.9 1.4 - -
Expiring in the second to fifth years inclusive 2.7 3.2 0.1 0.2
Expiring after the fifth year 0.1 0.1 - -
Total 3.7 4.7 0.1 0.2

29. Contingent liabilities
The Directors are not aware of any significant legal or arbitration proceedings pending or threatened against any member of the
Group which may have any liability materially in excess of provisions in the financial statements.

Guarantees and other contingent liabilities, other than those relating to HMV and HMV Group plc, total £21.5m (2002: £22.3m)
for the Group, of which £7.1m (2002: £7.2m) relate to certain contracts entered into by former Group companies. There are
several guarantees and other contingent liabilities in respect of HMV and HMV Group plc (see Note 32 (i) for details).
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30.Pension arrangements

The Group operates a number of pension schemes throughout the world. The main scheme, which covers employees in

the UK, is the EMI Group Pension Fund (the UK Fund). The UK Fund is of the defined benefit type and is open to all permanent
employees over the age of 18 employed by the Company and certain subsidiaries in the UK. Benefits provided by the UK
Fund are based on final pensionable pay. Pensions payable from the UK Fund are guaranteed to increase by 5% per annum
or, if alower rate, by the increase in the cost of living. Members contribute to the UK Fund at the rate of 4% of pensionable pay.

Aside from the UK, the Group has significant defined benefit schemes in Germany (one scheme) and Japan (three schemes).
With the exception of these schemes, the other defined benefit schemes operated on behalf of the Group are not material. The
currently agreed rates of contribution by the Group are nil for all significant defined benefit schemes.

Staff engaged in other countries are covered by local arrangements which, in the case of the Group schemes, are of the defined
contribution type. The assets of the Group’s pension schemes are held mainly in separate trustee-administered funds.

Employer contributions of £12.7m (2002: £13.8m) were charged to the profit and loss account in the year. These contributions
primarily related to overseas schemes and were determined in accordance with local practice. Other post-retirement benefit
expenses of £0.1m (2002: £0.1m) were also charged to the profit and loss account.

Provision is made in the financ al statements for the benefits accruing to members of unfunded pension schemes in accordance
with the advice of independent actuaries.

A triennial actuarial valuation of the UK Fund as at 31 March 2003 is currently in progress. The results of this valuation are
expected to be available in the second quarter in the 2003/04 financial year, at which time the Group, together with the Pension
Fund Trustees, will determine the future funding strategy.

The lztest available actuarial valuation of the UK Fund was made by a qualified actuary as at 31 March 2000 using the projected
unit method. At that date the market value of the assets of the UK Fund was taken to be £1,079m. The market value of the assets
was sufficient to cover 117% of the value of the benefits that had accrued to the members, after allowing for assumed increases
in earnings, on the actuarial assumptions used, treating the UK Fund as an ongoing entity. Part of the excess assets disclosed
by the 2000 valuation has been used to finance a special increase of 3% to pensions in payment and part has been allocated
towards a reduction of employer contributions below the long-term rate, with the balance being carried forward as areserve

in the UK Fund.

Employer expense in respect of the Fund has been calculated in accordance with SSAP24. On the basis of actuarial advice,

itis calculated that the employer expense would represent a credit to the profit and loss account on full application of SSAP24
principles. However, for reasons of conservatism, such expense has been taken as £nil for the two years ended 31 March 2003.
The long-term financial assumptions used to calculate employer expense under SSAP24 are shown below:

Growth relative to investment return

% per annum
Rate of investment return 56
Rate of pay increases 5
Rate of pension increases 3
Rate of price inflation 3
These rates included allowancs for the effects of the tax credit changes introduced by the Finance (No. 2) Act 1997.
The most recent full actuarial valuations of the other twc significant defined benefit schemes were carried out as follows:
Germany on 1 April 2003 and Japan on 31 October 2000.
The additional disclosures required by FRS17 are set out below.
The most recent full actuarial valuations have been updated to 31 March 2003 by qualified independent actuaries.
Wr%rgjl:)ﬁ Germany Japan
% %
Major assumptions
Rate of general increase in salaries 425 35 24-50
Rate of increase to pensions in payment 2.25 2.0 Nil
Rate of increase to deferred pensions 225 2.0 Nil
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 55 5.0 1.25
Inflation 2.25 2.0 Nil
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Notes to the Financial Statements

continued

30.Pension arrangements (continued)

On full compliance with FRS17, on the basis of the above assumptions, the amounts that would have been charged or credited
to the consolidated profit and loss account and consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year ended

31 March 2003 are set out below:

United
ngdgm Germaﬁrrll:r Japrarg
Operating profit
Current service cost 11.0 0.3 2.2
Past service cost - - -
Gain on curtailment - (2.2) (2.2)
Total charge (credit) to operating profit 11.0 (1.9) -
Finance income
Expected return on scheme assets (61.0) - (1.2)
Interest on scheme liabilities 45.0 1.4 1.4
Net (credit) charge to finance income (16.0) 1.4 0.2
Total (credit) charge to profit and loss account before taxation (5.0) (0.5) 0.2
Consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses
Actual return less expected return on scheme assets 196.0 (0.5) 0.6
Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme liabilities (12.0) 0.2 0.5
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities 5.0 33 6.2
Actuarial loss recognisable in consolidated statement of 189.0 3.0 6.3
total recognised gains and losses
United
Kingdom Germany Japan
% % %
Further disclosures
Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets (28.1) 47.6 0-(1.3)
expressed as a percentage of the scheme assets
Experience gains and (losses) on scheme liabilities expressed as a percentage of 15 (0.7) 15.5-(5.8)
the present value of the scheme liabilities
Total actuarial loss recognised in the consolidated statement of total recognised (23.3) (10.5) (8.3)-(11.4)

gains and losses, expressed as a percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities

The market values of the assets of the significant defined benefit schemes at 31 March 2003 were as follows:

United
Kingdom Germany Japan
£m £m £m
Market value of assets*
Equities 432.0 - -
Bonds 252.0 - -
Other 13.0 1.0 445
Total market value of assets 697.0 1.0 44.5
Present value of scheme liabilities (813.0) (31.1) (59.0)
Deficit in the scheme (116.0) (30.1) (14.5)
Pension liability before deferred tax (116.0) (30.1) (14.5)
Deferred tax 34.8 1.4 6.1
Amount provided to cover scheme deficit n/a 30.7 (2.4)
Impact on reserves (81.2) 12.0 (10.8)
* The expected long-term rate of return on the assets is as follows:
United Kingdom  7.0% (equifies 8.4%, bonds 4.8%, other 3.8%) (2002: 7.2% (equities 8.0%,bonds 5.5%, other 4.5%))
Germany 45% (2002: 5.5%)
Japan 1.75% (2002: 2,75% (equities 5.9%, bonds 2.5%, other 2.5%))
Movement in surplus (deficit) during the year:
United
Kingdom Germany Japan
£m £m £m
Surplus (deficit) in scheme at beginning of the year 68.0 (25.3) (13.6)
Exchange adjustments - (3.4) -
Current service cost (11.0) (0.3) 2.2)
Past service cost - - -
Gain on curtailment - 22 2.2
Cash contributions - 1.1 5.6
Other finance income (expense) 16.0 (1.4) 0.2)
Actuarial loss (189.0) (3.0) 6.3)
Deficit in scheme at end of the year (116.0) (30.1) (14.5)
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31.Purchase and disposal of businesses

(i) Purchase of businesses

Acquisitions during the year include Mute Limited (a recorded music business in the UK), Gold Label Limited (a recorded music
businzss in Hong Kong), eCentury Limited (a recorded music business in Taiwan), Rover Music NV and A&S Productions bvba
(music publishing businesses in Belgium) and an additional 50% stake in Delabel Editions SA (a music publishing business in France).

Bookvelue Fair value
of assets tothe
acquired Adjustments Group

£m £m £m
Music copyrights - 8.6 8.6
Tangible fixed assets 0.3 - 0.3
Stocks 0.8 .8 -
Debtors 10.6 (4.0 6.6
Creditors (7.6) (0.6) 8.2)
Tax 0.2 - 0.2
Borrowings 4.3) - 4.3
Net assets acquired (before cash) - 3.2 3.2
Goodwill capitalised 39.8
Deferred consideration payable (20.6)
Net cash consideration 22.4
Satisfied by:
Total consideration 43.7
Deferred consideration payable (20.8)
Cash consideration 23.1
Net cash acquired (0.7)
Net cash consideration 224
The adjustments to book value of £3.2m were made to bring the valuation of the assets acquired in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.
All acquisitions have been accounted for using the acquisition method.
(ii) Disposal of joint venture (HMV Group pic)
£m
Share of gross assets less share of gross liabilities at 31 March 2002 (159.9)
Share of loss for year to 31 March 2003 0.5)
Net liabilities disposed of (160.4)
Goodwill previously written-off 175.3
Profiton disposal 215.2
Tax on prior-year unrealised profits (25.6)
Provision for HMV pension shortfall (Note 32 (i) 50
Cashinflow on disposal 209.5
(iii) Disposal of businesses
Net cash outflow from disposal of businesses includes the disposal of Disky Communications Europe BV (a recorded music
businassin Holland).
fm
Tangible fixed assets 0.2
Stocks 5.0
Debtors 227
Creditors (12.7)
Provisions 0.2)
Tax 26
Minority interest (1.5)
Net assets disposed of 16.1
Goodwill previously written-off to reserves 8.4
Lossondisposal (25.2)
Cash outflow on disposal (0.7)
Comprising:
Cashdisposed of (3.2)
Consideration received 5
Cash outflow on disposal (0.7)
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32.Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS8 - Related party disclosures not to disclose related party
transactions between Group subsidiary undertakings. The Group had several transactions with other related parties during the year.

(i) HMV and HMV Group plc
As part of the sale in 1998 of the companies and assets comprising HMV and HMV Group plc (HMV Group) the Company acquired
a45.2% equity stake, and 50% of the Junior Preference Shares, in HMV Group for £87.5m.

Anadditional £25m, in the form of deferred consideration, was to be receivable on (inter alia) a listing of any part of the share capital
of HMV Group on any recognised stock exchange, or 28 March 2003. In addition, an amount of up to £25m further consideration
was to be receivable if Advent International Corporation and related investors achieved a specified return on their investment in
HMV Group on alisting. As a result of additional equity and preference share issues during 1999 by HMV Group, in which the
Company subscribed £9m for additional ordinary and preference shares, at 31 March 2002, the Company owned a42.65%
(39.90% fully diluted) equity stake in HMV Group, and 18.08% and 49.15%, respectively, of HMV Group’s Senior ‘A’ Preference
Shares and Junior Preference Shares. The Group also made available to HMV Group a £50m working capital revolving credit
facility (the EMI Revolving Credit Facility), no partof which was drawn during the year.

On 15 May 2002, HMV Group shares were admitted to listing on the Londen Stock Exchange, pursuant to a global offer which
involved the Company selling part of its holding of ordinary shares in HMV Group. The net cash proceeds payable to the Group

as aresult of the flotation comprised the following elements, namely £69.4m, representing (i) the deferred and contingent
consideration payable to the Group by HMV Group on its listing under the terms of 1998 sale agreement between the Group

and HMV Group, as described above, and (i) the redemption of the Company’s holding of senior preference shares in HMV Group,
together with £72.9m in respect of ordinary shares in HMV Group sold by the Company in the global offer.

Following these transactions, the Group retained a residual shareholding in HMV Group of 14.5%. This holding was subject to lock-
up arrangements for six months from flotation. On 19 November 2002, theremaining 14.5% interest was sold at a price of 120p
per share, which raised net proceeds of about £69m.

As part of the 1998 transaction, the Group also entered into an indemnity deed with HMV Group relating, among other things, to
guarantees given by the Group of approximately 87 leases. Under the deed, HMV Group agreed to indemnify the Group against
any payments made under those and certain other guarantees and indemnities. HMV Group undertook to use reasonable efforts
to arrange for the release of those guarantees. The aggregate annual rental payments under guaranteed leases are approximately
£24.4m, although they are subject to adjustment both up and down under certain circumstances. The guaranteed leases have
terms which expire in one to 23 years, and many of the leases expire in years beyond 2013,

As part of the flotation arrangements, the EMI Revolving Credit Facility was cancelled. The indemnity deed remains in force in
respect of lease guarantees, and HMV Group has secured those obligations pursuant to a security deed, the Company’s rights
under which rank second behind banks which provide senior credit facilities to HMV Group.

Under the 1998 Sale Agreement, as from 31 May 2003, HMV Group employees will cease to be active members of the Group’s

UK Fund. They will have the opportunity to join the HMV Group Pension Scheme and, if they so elect, to transfer their Group Fund
benefits in terms of accrued service to the HMV Scheme. The Sale Agreement provides for a transfer payment to be made from the
Group's UK Fund to the HMV Scheme in respect of benefits so transferred, the transfer payment being made in accordance with
actuarial assumptions but agreed as part of the Sale arrangements. If the transfer payment so calculated exceeds the share of

the assets of the Group’s UK Fund attributable tothe transferring members, the Company is obliged to make up the shaortfall.

An estimate of £5m was provided in the year in respect of the Company’s potential liability in this regard and charged as anon-
operating exceptional item (see Note 9 (i) for further details).

The Group also assigned various trademarks to HMV (IP) Limited including the 'Dog and Gramophone’ trademark and HMV
acronym in consideration for the payment of £2m over a period of three years. HMV (IP) Limited licensed back to the Group
for no consideration the right to use the ‘Dog and Gramophone’ trademark on its recorded music products.

During that part of the year ended 31 March 2003 for which HMV Group plc was a joint venture, companies within the Group made
sales of £2.2m (2002: £82.3m) to companies within HMV Group.

(ii) Delabel Music Publishing and related companies

Pursuant to a Heads of Agreement signed in July 1998, in December 2002, the Group completed the acquisition from Emmanuel
de Buretel, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of EMI Recorded Music Continental Europe, of his 50% shareholding in Delabel
Editions SA, his 50% interest in Delabel Music Publishing (UK) Limited and his 17 % shareholding in Source (UK) Limited. The
consideration for the Delabel Music Publishing (UK) Limited shares will be determined by reference to a formula based on future net
publisher’s share over athree-year period, whilst that for the Source (UK) Limited shares is an override royalty on certain net sales of
albums released by Source (UK) Limited artists. The consideration for the shares of Delabel Editions SA was €21.4m with a one-off

future payment which will be determined by reference to a formula based cn 15 times net publisher’s share not to exceed €1.5m.

(iii) lichester Investments

As part of the arrangements for Alain Levy's appointment as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of EMI Recorded Music, the
Company agreed to reimburse to lichester Investments Ltd, a company controlled by Mr Levy and his family, rental and certain
other payments due in respect of that company’s leasehold offices in central London, pending the disposal of the lease. Such
payments reimbursed oraccrued due to lichester Investments Ltd, as at 31 March 2003, totalled £138,232 (2002: £59,400).
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32.Related party transactions (continued)

(iv) Project Typhoon

In July 2002, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement (' Project Typhoon') with Mr Norman Cheng who subsequently
joined the Group as Chairman of EMI South East Asia. Pursuant to that agreement, the Group agreed to establish and fund,

on anongoing basis, new businesses in the People’s Republic of China, Hong Kong and Korea, in which Mr Cheng has or will
have an equity interest. It is envisaged that once these businesses are fully operational, Mr Cheng will assume full responsibility
for their management and will step down from his role as Chairman of EMI South East Asia. The Group has an option to buy,
and Mr Cheng has an option to sell, his equity interest in the joint venture businesses in 2009 at a price determined by reference
to a formula based on a multiple of earnings over a three-year period. Such a price can be limited to not more than US$100m.

33.Post-balance sheet events

On 19 July 2002 the Group announced that it would complete the purchase of the Jobete song catalogue, one of the world’s
premier music publishing catalogues containing the classic standards of the Motown era. The Group acquired an initial 50%
of Jobete Music Co., Inc. in 1997. It acquired a further 30% on 10 April 2003, for a consideration of US$109.3m. The minority
shareholder has the right to require the Group to buy the remaining shareholding at a date not earlier than April 2004 and not
later than April 2005, failing which the Group has the option, exercisable in Octoker 2005, to purchase the shareholding.

The consideration payable for the remaining 20% will be not less than US$75.1m and not more than US$86.3m.

34.Significant investments

The businesses set out below are those which were part of the Group at 31 March 2003 and in the opinion of the Directors
significantly affected the Group’s results and net assets during the year. Except where otherwise stated, the country of
incorporation is England, the operations are within the United Kingdom, the shares are in equity share capital and the businesses
arewholly owned.

Subsidiary undertakings Corporate

Recorded Music and Music Publishing EMI Group Finance plc

Capitol-EMI Music, Inc. (USA) EMI Group Holdings (UK) Ltd

Capitol Records, Inc. (USA) EMI Group International Holdings Ltd
Chrysalis Records Ltd EMI Group North America Holdings, Inc.(USA)
EMI Music Germany GmbH & Co. KG EMI Group North America, Inc.(USA)

EMI Entertainment World, Inc. (USA) EMI Group Worldwide Ltd

EMI Music Australia Pty Ltd (Australia) Virgin Music Group Ltd"

EMI Music France S.A. (France)

EMI Music Italy SpA (Italy)

EMI Music Publishing Ltd

EMI Records Ltd

Jobete Music Co., Inc. (USA) (50% owned)”
Priority Records, LLC (USA)

Toshiba-EMI Lid (Japan) (55% owned)
Virgin Records America, Inc. (USA)

Virgin Records Ltd

" Held directly by the Company.
* Jobete Music Co,, Inc. has been consolidated as a subsidiary, even though it was only 50% owned, in accordance with section 258(4) of the Companies Act 1985,
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Five Year Summary

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
£m £m £m £m £m
Results
Turnover:
Continuing operations 2,175.4 24458 26727 23865 23735
Operating profit:
Continuing operations
Group operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation 254.0 190.9 3325 2390.6 269.7
Share of joint venture operating profit 0.4 34.3 34.4 27.7 30.1
Share of associates’ operating profits (losses) 0.2 (1.1) (3.8 0.8 0.7)
Total operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation 254.6 2241 363.1 3191 299.1
Operating exceptional items (24.9) (2424) (429 4.0) -
Amortisation of goodwill and music copyrights (42.8) (51.3) (53.8) (34.6) (27.3)
186.9 (69.6) 266.4 280.5 271.8
Non-operating exceptional items:
(Losses) profits on businesses disposed of or terminated (25.2) - - 9.9) 3.7
Profits on disposal of fixed assets and investments 234.9 - - 52.4 -
Profit (loss) before finance charges 396.6 (69.6) 2664 323.0 275.5
Finance charges (77.3) (83.2) (103.6) (73.7) (72.0)
Profit (loss) before taxation 319.3 (152.8) 162.8 249.3 203.5
Taxation (83.2) (38.2) (70.9) (73.0) (71.7)
Profit (loss) after taxaticn 236.1 (191.0) 91.9 176.3 131.8
Minority interests (6.4) (8.5) (12.7) (17.9) 9.2)
Profit (loss) attributable to members of the Holding Company 229.7 (199.5) 79.2 158.4 122.6
Operating assets
Music copyrights 451.2 518.2 546.8 521.0 373.6
Goodwill 56.2 34.0 61.1 26.7 11.6
Property, plant, equipment and vehicles 289.4 2773 306.8 337.2 348.7
Fixed asset investments 22.2 295 48.6 38.0 58.2
Investments: own shares 7.3 13.1 14.4 18.4 19.9
Stock and debtors, excluding taxation and interest 973.9 919.6 994.9 882.9 810.2
Creditors and provisions, excluding taxation,
dividends and interest payable (1,210.4) (1,296.4) (1,231.3) (1106.4) (1126.6)
Investment in HMV Group plc - (159.9) (168.3) (169.0) (167.5)
Operating assets 589.8 335.4 573.0 548.8 328.1
Key statistics
Net borrowings 859.8 10579 992.8 921.2 7252
Net cash inflow from operating activities 118.3 211.9 314.8 246.5 330.3
Capital expenditure:
Fixed assets (continuing operations) 68.5 39.2 42.8 37.8 44.7
Earnings per Ordinary Share:
Basic 29.3p (25.5p) 10.1p 20.3p 15.7p
Adjusted diluted 156p 118 2190  192p  185p
Dividends per Ordinary Share 8.0p 80p 16.0p 16.0p  16.0p
Return on sales 11.7% 78% 124% 122%  11.4%
Effective tax rate (befors exceptional items and amortisation) 25.3% 300% 27.3% 30.0%  30.9%
Interest cover —excluding joint venture 3.9x 4.0x 5.2x 6.9x 7.3x
Dividend cover 1.95x 1.5x 1.4x 1.2x 1.2x

Since 1 April 1998, several new accounting standards have been adopted (FRS9 to FRS19) and, where appropriate, comparative
results have been restated to reflect the resulting changes in accounting policies and presentation of information.
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Investor Information

Financial calendar
Results announcements
Interim to 30 September 2003:
19 November 2003*
Finalto31 March 2004:
18 May 2004

AGMsand

2003 Annual General Meeting:
9July 2003

2003 Interim Report:
28 November 2003*

2004 Report and Accounts:
8June 2004*

2004 Annual General Meeting:
13 July 2004*

Dividend payment dates
2003 final:
payable on 3 October 2003 to shareholders
on theregister of members atthe
closz of business on 5 September 2003
2004 interim:
payable on 2 April 2004 to
shareholders on the register of members
atthe close of business on 5 March 2004°

"Proposed dates

Lloyds TSB Registrars

Questions about shareholdings, or changes of
address or any other particulars, should be sent to:
Lioyds TSB Registrars, Shareholder Services,

The Causeway, Worthing,

West Sussex BN93 6DA, UK.

Ahelpline, available at local call rates in the UK only,
operates during normal office hours on

0870600 53984. Shareholders outside the UK should
call +44 121 415 7060.

www.shareview.co.uk

Lloyds TSB Registrars have a website at:
www.shareview.co.uk where shareholders can view
information about their shareholdings, as well as find
informetion on how to register a change of name and
what todoif a share certificate is lost. There are also
facilities to download forms relating to changes of
address, dividend mandates and stock transfers.

Multiple accounts

If shareholders receive multiple copies of the Group's
Annual or Interim Reports, due to differing name and
address details, they should write to Lioyds TSB
Registrars requesting that their accounts be
amalgamated.

Payment of dividends to bank or building
society accounts

Shareholders who wish to have their dividends paid
directlyinto their UK bank or building society
account, with the related tax voucher being sentto
their registered address, should request adividend
mandaze form from Lloyds TSB Registrars or
download the form from www.shareview.co.uk

Payment of dividends to overseas
shareholders

Arrangements can be made for sharehcldersin
arange of countries outside the UK to have their
dividends paid directly into their bank account.
To find out if such a service can be made available
to you, please contact Lloyds TSB Registrars on
+44121415 7047,

Low-cost share dealing service -

NatWest Stockbrokers

An execution-cnly service, for holders of Ordinary
Shares, is available for the sale and purchase ofthe
Company’s shares at an attractive commissionrate.
Details about this service may be obtained from:
NatWest Stockbrokers,

Corporate & Employee Services,

55 Mansell Street, London E18AN, UK;

Tel: 0870600 2050;

e-mail: contactzes@natwest.com

This information has been approved for the purposes o
section 21(2)(b) of the Financial Services and Markets Act

The registrar, after receiving a minimum of six
applications, arranges for all the shares represented
by the certificates received to be sold in one
transaction. Thereafter, the proceeds of the sale,

less any transaction cests, are splitamongst the
participants in proportion to their shareholdings

and the resultant amount remitted to each participant
inUS dollars.

UK capital gains taxinformation

The market value of the Ordinary Shares of EMI
Group ple (then knownas THORN EMI ple) held
on 31 March 1982, as adjusted for subsequent
capitalisation issues, was 408.15p per share.

2000 by NatWest Stockbrokers Limited, whichi ber of
the London Stock Exchange and is regulated by the Financial
Services Authority,

ShareGift

If you have a small number of EMI Group plc shares,
with a value that makes it uneconomic to sell them,
youmay donata the shares to charity through the
ShareGift scheme operated by The Orr Mackintosh
Foundation. Further information on ShareGift can be
obtained from their website at www: sharegift.org or
by calling 020 7337 0501.

Individual Savings Account (ISA) -

Lloyds TSB Bank Pic”

Lloyds TSB Bank Plc can provide a single company
1SA for EMI Group plc Ordinary Shares. Details of
this ISA, which is only available to UK-resident
shareholders, may be obtained from Lioyds TSB
Registrars either by writing to them at:

The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex BNS9 6UY,
or by calling their ISA helpline on 0870 24 24 244,

Menthly Purchase Plan (MPP)-
TSB Bank Plc’
Lloyds TSB Bank Plc provides an MPP for EMI
Group plc Ordinary Shares, Information about this
MPP may be obtained by writing to:
Lloyds TSB Registrars Scotland,
PO Box 28448, Edinburgh EH4 1QW,
or calling the MPP helpline on 0870 60 60 268.

American Depositary Receipts (ADRs)

The Company's ADRs trade on the Over-the-Counter
market, with ore American Depositary Share (ADS)
representing two EM| Group plc Ordinary Shares.
JP Morgan Chase Bank is the Depositary for the
Company's ADSs. Enquiries should be directec to:
JP Morgan Service Center,

PO Box 43013, Providence, Rl 02940-3013, USA;
Tel: 1- 800428 4237 (toll-free in the USA)

or 1-7815754328;

Website: www.adr.com

£/US$ dividend conversion facility

This service enables the holders of Ordinary Shares
who are resiclent in the US to receive their dividends
inUS dollars rather than pounds sterling. Details of
this facility may be obtained from:

DB Services Tennesses, Inc.,

PO Box 305050, Nashville, Tennessee 37230, USA;
Tel: 1-6158353100.

Share sale facility”

Holders of Ordinary Shares, who are resident inthe
US and who wish to sell their shares, can submit
their share certficate(s) to:

Lioyds TSB Registrars, Shareholder Services,

The Causeway, Worthing,

West Sussex BN99 6DA, UK.

The base cost of EMI Group plc Ordinary Shares
acquired prior to the demerger of 19 August 1996
will need to be apportioned between EMI Group plc
Ordinary Shares of 25p each and Thorn ple Ordinary
Shares of 25p in the proportion 78.8% to 21.2%.

The base cost of EMI Group plc Ordinary Shares of
25p each held prior to the share capital
reorganisation of 21 July 1997 will then need to be
apportioned between the new Ordinary Shares of
14p each and the former B Shares of 114.5peach in
the proportion 89.4% to 10.6%.

Share price information

Inthe UK, the market price of EMI Group plc Ordinary
Shares is available on Ceefax and Teletext, or by
calling the FT Cityline service on 0906 843 4214

or 0806 003 4214 (calls charged at 60p per minute).

Unsolicited mail

By law, the EMI Group plc share register has tobe
available for public viewing. If you wish to avoid
receiving unsolicited mail from other organisations,
please write to:

Mailing Preference Service,

Freepost 22, London WIE 7EZ,

or call 08457 034589 for an application form.

Annual and Interim Reports

Copies of the Group’s previous Annual and Interim
Reports are available from the Corporate
Communications Department at the address shown
below in italics, or, for 1997 onwards, on the EMI
Group website at the address shown under
Website/general enquiries below.

Social Responsibility Report and information
The Group’s Social Responsibility Report for 2003
will be published during the summer of 2003 and will
bemade available on the EM| Group website at the
address shown below. The printed version and
further information on social responsibility matters
may be obtained from the Corporate
Communications Department at the address shown
under Website/general enquiries below.

Website/general enquiries

The EMI Group website provides news and financial
information about the Group, as well as its Recorded
Music and Music Publishing businesses, together
with links to its recorded music labels.

General enquiries may be addressed to the
Corporate Communications Department at:
EMI Group plc,

27 Wrights Lane, London W8 58W, UK;

Tel: 020 7795 7000;

Callers from outside ths UK should call:

+44 20 7795 7000;

Website: www.emigroup.com

* The publication of the information in respect of Individual Savings Accounts, the Monthly Purchase Planand the Share Sale Facility has been approved, for the purposes of section 21(2)b)
of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, by Lioyds TSB Bank Plc, part of the Lioyds TSB Group, which s regulated by the Financial Services Authority.

Analysis of Ordinary Shareholdings at 15 May 2003

Range Mo, of holdings % Balance as at 15 May 2003 %
1t0 500 11,268 46.00 2,382,089 0.3
501 to 1,000 5,679 2318 4,194,878 0.5
1,001 to 10,000 6,415 26.18 15,360,726 2.0
10,001 to 100,000 669 273 23.903,269 3.0
100,001 to 1,000,000 326 1.33 110,643,321 14.0
1,000,001 and over 139 0.57 632,113,669 80.2
Totals 24,496 100.00 788,597,933 100.0
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